

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

Significance of Rib Fractures Potentially Caused by Blunt-Impact Non-Lethal Weapons

Shelley M. Cazares Michael S. Finnin Jenny R. Holzer Allison L. King Corinne M. Kramer

March 2017 Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

IDA Document D-8277

Log: H 16-001307

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES 4850 Mark Center Drive Alexandria, Virginia 22311-1882



The Institute for Defense Analyses is a non-profit corporation that operates three federally funded research and development centers to provide objective analyses of national security issues, particularly those requiring scientific and technical expertise, and conduct related research on other national challenges.

About This Publication

This work was conducted by the Institute for Defense Analyses (IDA) under contract HQ0034-14-D-0001, Project DU-2-4061, "Predicting the Significance of Injuries Caused by Non-Lethal Weapons," for the Joint Nonlethal Weapons Directorate (JNLWD). The views, opinions, and findings should not be construed as representing the official position of either the Department of Defense or the sponsoring organization.

For More Information

Allison L. King, Project Leader aking@ida.org, 703-845-2324

Leonard J. Buckley, Director, Science and Technology Division lbuckley@ida.org, 703-578-2800

Copyright Notice

© 2017 Institute for Defense Analyses 4850 Mark Center Drive, Alexandria, Virginia 22311-1882 • (703) 845-2000.

This material may be reproduced by or for the U.S. Government pursuant to the copyright license under the clause at DFARS 252.227-7013 (a)(16) [Jun 2013].

INSTITUTE FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

IDA Document D-8277

Significance of Rib Fractures Potentially Caused by Blunt-Impact Non-Lethal Weapons

Shelley M. Cazares Michael S. Finnin Jenny R. Holzer Allison L. King Corinne M. Kramer

Executive Summary

Department of Defense Directive (DoDD) 3000.3E defines Non-Lethal Weapons (NLWs) as "weapons, devices, and munitions that are explicitly designed and primarily employed to incapacitate targeted personnel or material immediately, while minimizing fatalities, permanent injuries to personnel, and undesired damage to property in the target area or environment" (DoD 2013, 12). In addition, "NLWs are intended to have reversible effects on personnel and material" (DoD 2013, 12).

This document considers effects from non-lethal blunt-impact munitions, such as rubber bullets and bean bags. Often employed in crowd dispersal, these munitions serve as a deterrent by inducing pain or muscle spasm at the site of impact of the affected individual. These weapons may induce rib fractures—the focus of this document.

During the Department of Defense (DoD) technology development acquisition process, developers compare the capabilities of novel NLW systems to requirements, including the key performance parameters (KPPs) and key system attributes (KSAs) discussed in capability documents (DoD 2015, B-24). Counter-personnel NLW requirements often include a KPP or KSA pertaining to RSI. The RSI metric estimates the reversibility of a system's effect on targeted personnel (DoD 2012, 14). During the development acquisition process, developers must quantify the NLW's total RSI (DoD 2012), demonstrating a RSI less than or equal to a numerical threshold value. DoD Instruction (DoDI) 3200.19 defines a significant injury as death, permanent injury, or injury that requires medical treatment with a Health Care Capability (HCC) index of 1 (HCC1) or higher (HCC1+) (DoD 2012, 14). A HCC index of 0 (HCC0) medical treatment requires "limited first-responder capability including self-aid, buddy-aid, and combat lifesaver skills" (DoD 2012, 13).

This study searched the literature to identify attributes of rib fractures that quantitatively, accurately, and precisely approximate the significance of the rib fracture type according to the definitions established in DoDI 3200.19 (DoD 2012) and consider how these predictive attributes can be estimated during the development acquisition phase for a novel blunt-impact NLW. The results of our analysis are illustrated in Figure ES-1 and are summarized in the findings and recommendations that follow.



Legend for Figure ES-1

¹Lee et al. (1990, 689); Sirmali et al. (2003, 135); Karmy-Jones and Jurkovich (2004, 248); Sharma et al. (2008, 313); Shields et al. (2010, e117).

²U.S. Army Medical Department Center and School (n.d., 1-4).

³Easter (2001); Pressley et al. (2012); Chapman et al. (2016).

⁴Lafferty et al. (2011, 102); Aetna (2016).

⁵ Kerr-Valentic et al. (2003); Easter (2001); Middleton et al. (2003); Mayberry et al. (2009); Kouritas et al. 2013; Lube (2013); Fathi (2012)

Figure ES-1. Decision Flow Diagram: Classifying Rib Fractures as Significant Based on Rib Fracture Type

Findings

- Most blunt-impact trauma data are derived from motor vehicle accidents, falls, assaults, and industrial accidents which present different injury mechanisms than blunt NLWs. Our analysis considers all data regardless of mechanism of injury.
- The elderly are more vulnerable to rib fractures. Children are more vulnerable to intrathoracic injuries. Our analysis assumes equal vulnerability to blunt trauma injuries, regardless of age and/or pre-existing cardiac and/or pulmonary conditions.
- The medical literature does not study rib fractures in isolation. When rib fractures are reported, clinicians and medical researchers rarely capture data on rib fractures in isolation, and the data that do exist rarely indicate the characteristic of the fracture (e.g., transverse, oblique, overriding, and so forth), how many fractures within one rib, location within the rib, or which rib. This

challenged our study's ability to quantify the likelihood and consequence of each injury and complication.

- The human thoracic region is complex, composed of different soft and hard tissues. This added complexity challenged the team to evaluate a broader set of injuries and potential complications (compared to prior IDA studies).
- Little is known about a rib fractures' contribution to chronic pain and long term disability (Gordy et al. 2014). Nor does the literature provide consistent association between fractures and chronic disability/pain.
- A study by Mayberry et al, concluded that patients with two or fewer fractures and no additional injuries and/or complications were able to return to work or usual activity sooner than patients with additional injuries and/or complications (Kerr-Valentic et al. 2003).

Recommendations

Based on our findings, our recommendations for NLW developers are as follows:

- Classify the following rib fracture types as significant because the medical treatment for the injuries or the complications have HCC1+ standards of care:
 - Three or more simultaneously fractured ribs, or
 - Two or more simultaneous fractures within one rib, or
 - Bilateral rib fracture, or
 - Open rib fracture.
- Classify the following rib fractures as not significant because the literature suggests HCC0 standard of care, with low likelihood of permanent disability:
 - Closed rib fracture with one or two simultaneously fractured ribs, and
 - Each rib only fractured once, and
 - Not a bilateral fracture and not an open fracture.
- For future study of permanent injury, promote investigation of metrics which evaluate blunt force impact effects on long term pain, mobility, and lung capacity. This includes the Mayberry group's effort to determine rib fracture attributes which predict long term disability (see Appendices A and B to this document).
- Investigate whether existing models, such as Advanced Total Body Model (ATBM) may predict two of the rib fracture classes we identify as significant, which include:
 - Three or more simultaneously fractured ribs and

- Bilateral rib fracture.

At present, we conclude that existing models have no capability to model the remaining *significant* rib fracture types:

- Two or more fractures in a single rib, and
- Open rib fracture.

Due to the ongoing need for experimental validation of the existing models, we recommend an optimization of future experiments to collect rib fracture prediction data and characterization of the fracture. Existing data (if x-rays were maintained) may support this purpose. This effort must predict the conditions under which multiple fractures in a single rib or in open rib fractures result. Given that experimentation to develop and validate the model is already necessary, additions to the testing should be made to gain understanding of the conditions that might cause the rib fracture attributes found to be significant in this report. In the event that multiple, bilateral, or open fractures are found to occur under expected weapon use conditions, a modeling capability with increased fidelity on fracture type should be pursued.

Contents

1.	Intr	oduction	1-1
	A.	Non-Lethal Weapons (NLWs)	1-1
	B.	Why Assess Rib Fracture Significance?	1-1
	C.	Risk of Significant Injury (RSI)	1-2
	D.	Objective	1-5
	E.	Overview	1-5
2.	Inju	ries and Complications of Blunt-Impact NLWs	2-1
	A.	Defining Injuries and Complications	2-1
	В.	Blunt-Impact NLW Injuries: Review of Field-Use Data	
		and Medical Case Studies	2-1
	C.	Thoracic Cage and Pulmonary Anatomy	2-3
	D.	Blunt-Impact Injuries of the Thoracic Cage	
		and Their HCC Level of Care	
		1. Bruises and Abrasions	
		2. Rib and Sternum Fractures	
		 Pulmonary Injuries	
	E.		
2		Pulmonary Complications of Thoracic Trauma essing Rib Fracture Significance	
3.			
	A. D	Challenges in Estimating the Significance of Rib Fractures	
	В.	HCC Standard of Care to Treat Rib Fractures	
		 Three or More Simultaneously Fractured Ribs Is a Significant Injury Two or More Simultaneous Fractures 	3-4
		within One Rib Is a Significant Injury	3-6
		 Bilateral Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury 	
		4. Open Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury	
		5. Closed Rib Fractures (2 or fewer) are treated with HCC0 care	
	C.	Restrictions to Life Caused by Closed Rib Fracture	. 3-12
4.	Con	nputational Modeling	4-1
	A.	Rib Model Development	4-1
	B.	Injury Prediction	4-3
	C.	Application of Significance Results in ATBM	4-4
5.	Fine	lings and Recommendations	
	A.	Findings	
	B.	Recommendations	

Appendix A. Chronic Pain from Rib Fracture	A-1
Appendix B. Rib Fracture Disability and Surrogates for Chronic Pain	B-1
Appendix C. Additional Rib Fracture Research	C-1
Appendix D. Blunt-Impact NLW Background Information	D-1
Illustrations	E-1
References	F-1
Abbreviations	G-1

1. Introduction

A. Non-Lethal Weapons (NLWs)

Department of Defense Directive (DoDD) 3000.3E defines NLWs as "weapons, devices, and munitions that are explicitly designed and primarily employed to incapacitate targeted personnel or material immediately, while minimizing fatalities, permanent injuries to personnel, and undesired damage to property in the target area or environment" (DoD 2013, 12). In addition, "NLWs are intended to have reversible effects on personnel and material" (DoD 2013, 12).

Counter-personnel NLWs deliver many different types of stimuli. This document considers effects from non-lethal blunt-impact munitions, such as rubber bullets and bean bags. Often employed in crowd dispersal, these munitions serve as a deterrent by inducing pain or muscle spasm at the site of impact of the affected individual. These weapons may also induce rib fractures—the focus of this document.

B. Why Assess Rib Fracture Significance?

This document informs the Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate (JNLWD) of the risk of significant injury (RSI) (see Section 1.C) from blunt-impact NLWs by categorizing the injuries that are associated with the weapons as either significant or not significant. Those injuries that are deemed significant may require the development of a predictive capability via modeling.

Previous analyses of field-use statistics of blunt-impact NLWs indicate that approximately half of reported injuries occur to the abdomen and chest regions, which is to be expected since most weapons call for targeting the torso. In addition, Kenny and Bovbjerg (2013) and Hubbs and Klinger (2004) report that the vast majority of injuries that occur are bruises and abrasions (57%–91% of reported injuries), and, less frequently, lacerations (6.2%–11.8%), fractures (1.5%–3.9%), and penetrations (1.7%–2%) occur. Analyses of case studies, which are, by nature, focused on the most severe injuries from blunt-impact NLWs, indicate that lung contusion (44 of 123 reports) and rib fracture (22 of 123 reports are predominant injuries (Rezende- Neto et al. 2009).

Rib fractures come in many forms which span the scale of severe and non-severe injuries. The JNLW tasked IDA to clarify the attributes that determine when a rib fracture constitutes a significant injury.

C. Risk of Significant Injury (RSI)

During the Department of Defense (DoD) technology development acquisition process, developers compare the capabilities of novel NLW systems to requirements, including the key performance parameters (KPPs) and key system attributes (KSAs) discussed in capability documents (DoD 2015, B-24). Counter-personnel NLW requirements often include a KPP or KSA pertaining to RSI. The RSI metric estimates the reversibility of a system's effect on targeted personnel (DoD 2012, 14). During the development acquisition process, developers must quantify the NLW's total RSI (DoD 2012), demonstrating a RSI less than or equal to a numerical threshold value.¹

To estimate the RSI metric for a particular injury (e.g., rib fracture), one must first consider the term "significant." DoD Instruction (DoDI) 3200.19 defines² a significant injury as death, permanent injury, or injury that requires medical treatment with an HCC index of 1 (HCC1) or higher (HCC1+) (DoD 2012, 14), defined as follows:

- Permanent injury constitutes "physical damage to a person that permanently impairs physiological function and restricts the employment or other activities of that person for the rest of his or her life" (DoD 2012, 14).
- Medical treatment with an HCC index of 1 (HCC1) is defined as "first responder capability including resuscitation, stabilization, and emergency care"
 (DoD 2012, 13). Medical treatment with an HCC index of 2 (HCC2) is defined

 $RSI_{tot} = P(any significant injury occurs).$

Note, however, that an NLW system can cause more than one significant injury. For example, it may be possible that a rubber bullet could cause a shattered rib *and* a severe concussion. One can estimate the total RSI of the NLW system by aggregating the probabilities that the system causes each particular significant injury (Burgei et al. 2014). These injuries may be correlated with each other; therefore, statistical methods must be employed to aggregate the individual probabilities without double counting. Such statistical aggregation techniques are beyond the scope of this document.

Instead, this document focuses on estimating the probability that an NLW system causes a particular significant injury

 $RSI_{injury} = P(a \ particular \ significant \ injury),$

regardless of whether any other significant injuries also occur. Specifically, this document focuses on estimating the probability that a non-lethal, blunt-impact munition causes a significant rib fracture

 $RSI_{rib\ fracture} = P(a\ significant\ rib\ fracture),$

regardless of whether a significant concussion—or any other significant injury—also occurs. Therefore, throughout this document, we use the term RSI to mean *RSI_{injury}* (e.g., *RSI_{rib fracture}*), as opposed to the aggregated *RSI_{tot}*.

² DoDI 3200.19 explicitly defines "risk of significant injury" but not "significant injury." Therefore the definition of "significant injury" provided here is our extrapolation from DoDI 3200.19's definition of "risk of significant injury" (see DoD 2012, 14).

¹ The total RSI for an NLW system is the probability that, when used as intended, the system will cause *any* significant injury:

as "forward resuscitative and theater hospitalization capabilities including advanced emergency, surgical, and ancillary services" (DoD 2012, 13).

• In contrast, medical treatment with an HCC index of 0 (HCC0) falls below the threshold for significance. It is defined as "limited first-responder capability including self-aid, buddy-aid, and combat lifesaver skills" (DoD 2012, 13).

In summary, DoD classifies an injury as significant if the injury requires HCC1+ medical treatment and/or leads to permanent injury.³

One must use these definitions to estimate RSI for a given injury. A multi-step estimation process can be used (Burgei et al. 2014). The first step estimates $P(injury \ occurs)$, the probability that an injury (e.g., rib fracture) occurs when using the NLW as intended. This metric is commonly estimated via modeling and simulation or cadaver experimentation. Another step estimates $P(injury \ is \ significant \ injury \ occurred)$, the probability that the injury (e.g., rib fracture) is significant, given that it occurred. The final RSI estimate is the product of these terms:

RSI= P(injury occurs) × P(injury is significant / injury occurred),

where the *injury* represents any injury under investigation (e.g., rib fracture, concussion, tympanic membrane rupture, photothermal retinal lesion, etc.).

This document focuses on the second RSI quantity, P(injury is significant | injury occurred), with the first quantity, P(injury occurs), considered beyond the scope of this project.

Our framework considers multiple types of rib fractures. The RSI equation for the injury can then be rewritten as follows:

$$RSI = \sum_{all \ types} P(injury_{type} \ occurred) \times P(injury_{type} \ is \ significant \ | \ injury_{type} \ occurred).$$

This equation is true provided that the injury types are mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive (MECE). The MECE caveat means that any instance of the injury (e.g., any instance of "rib fracture") must fit within one and only one pre-defined type (e.g., "three or more ribs fractured" vs. "one or two ribs fractured").

For example, consider the more general case in which the injury in question is binned into three MECE types. Then, the RSI equation for that particular injury can be written using six individual terms:

 $RSI = [P(injury_{type1} occurred) \times P(injury_{type1} is significant | injury_{type1} occurred)]$

³ In this document, we treat "death" as a subset of "permanent injury."

+ $[P(injury_{type2} \ occurred) \times P(injury_{type2} \ is \ significant | injury_{type2} \ occurred)]$ + $[P(injury_{type3} \ occurred) \times P(injury_{type3} \ is \ significant | injury_{type3} \ occurred)].$

To simplify RSI estimation, we approximate $P(injury_{type} is significant | injury_{type} occurred)$ as either 1 or 0, based upon the definitions of "HCC" and "permanent injury" in DoDI 3200.19 (DoD 2012). Approximations are based upon literature review, showing which injury types do/don't require HCC1+ medical treatment or lead to permanent injury. Our previous work used this approach (Hirsch et al. 2015; King and Cazares 2015; and Cazares et al. 2016). The Naval Surface Warfare Center Dahlgren Division (NSWCDD) also employed the method (NSWCDD 2015).

To continue our previous example, consider the case in which the literature indicates that the injury in question can be binned into three MECE types and that

- The first type almost always requires HCC1+ medical treatment;
- The second type almost never requires HCC1+ medical treatment and almost never leads to permanent injury; and
- The third type almost always leads to permanent injury, regardless of the HCC level of medical treatment.

In such a case, we can approximate $P(injury_{type} \text{ is significant } | injury_{type} \text{ occurred})$ as either 1 or 0 for each of the three types. In this way, we can approximate each type of injury as either significant or not significant, based on the definitions in DoDI 3200.19 (DoD 2012):

$$\begin{split} & P\big(injury_{type1} \text{ is signficant} \mid injury_{type1} \text{ occurred}\big) \approx 1 \text{ (significant),} \\ & P\big(injury_{type2} \text{ is signficant} \mid injury_{type2} \text{ occurred}\big) \approx 0 \text{ (not significant), and} \\ & P\big(injury_{type3} \text{ is signficant} \mid injury_{type3} \text{ occurred}\big) \approx 1 \text{ (significant).} \end{split}$$

Substituting these 1 and 0 approximations into the example RSI equation leads to the following:

$$\begin{split} RSI &\approx \left[P(injury_{type1} \ occurs) \times 1 \right] \\ &+ \left[P(injury_{type2} \ occurs) \times 0 \right] \\ &+ \left[P(injury_{type3} \ occurs) \times 1 \right], \end{split}$$

which reduces to:

$$RSI \approx P(injury_{type1} \ occurs) + P(injury_{type3} \ occurs).$$

In this example, we reduced the RSI estimate to two quantities: probability that the first type of the injury occurs plus the probability that the third type of the injury occurs.

Developers need not waste resources considering the second injury, since that type was approximated as not significant.

To enable the framework previously described, the injury classification must comply with the following:

- Injury types are MECE to permit RSI equation summation over different types;
- Each type is based upon objective and quantifiable attributes to permit consistently binning into the same type;
- The significance of each type of the injury (given that it occurred) should approximate to either 1 or 0, reducing the RSI equation to a sum of the probabilities that injury types occur.

To predict the onset of injury and attributes like those listed above, the JNLWD seeks computational modelling approaches in lieu of empirical methods to avoid the constraints placed upon animal and human cadaver experimentation.

D. Objective

This study searched the relevant academic and medical literature to

- Identify physical attributes of rib fractures to consistently bin a rib fracture into a set of MECE types to quantitatively approximate each rib fracture type as either non-significant or significant according to the definitions established in DoDI 3200.19 (DoD 2012); and
- Consider how these attributes can be estimated during the development acquisition phase for a novel blunt-impact NLW.

E. Overview

In this document, we review the anatomy of the thoracic cage and blunt-impact injuries, including rib fractures and other potential injuries and complications. We summarize the literature's data on rib fractures and propose recommendations for approximating a rib fracture as significant or not significant, based on the definitions established in DoDI 3200.19. (DoD 2012). Finally, we review relevant modeling capabilities and conclude with our recommendations for how NLW developers might further develop computational modeling to estimate the likelihood of rib fracture for blunt-impact NLWs.

This page intentionally blank.

2. Injuries and Complications of Blunt-Impact NLWs

A. Defining Injuries and Complications

Thoracic conditions described fall into two categories: injuries and complications. An injury is "damage, harm, or loss to a person, particularly as a result of external force" (Stedman 2012, 868). A complication is a "morbid process or event occurring during a disease [or injury] that is not an essential part of the disease [or injury], although it may result from it or from independent causes" (Stedman 2012, 375). We consider rib fracture a primary injury, and complications that may result from rib fracture as secondary (causal). We also consider other primary injuries and complications that are associated with blunt trauma because the literature does not often distinguish whether such injuries are caused by the rib fracture or the original insult. In Chapter 3, the distinction between "rib fracture" injuries and complications (those likely caused by the fracture itself) and "associated" co-injuries and co-complications is discussed.

B. Blunt-Impact NLW Injuries: Review of Field-Use Data and Medical Case Studies

As reported by Kramer, Macheret, and Teichman (2016), non-lethal blunt-impact weapons are currently used by U.S. law enforcement and corrections personnel, with many attempts to characterize injuries from field use. We leverage these studies to identify common thoracic injuries. Field-use data are constrained by officers' observations at the time of reporting, and lack medical sequelae such as lung contusion or pneumothorax that may take time to develop. We therefore supplement the field-use data with medical case studies to shed light on the more serious injuries.

Reported injuries include abrasions, lacerations, rib fractures, skull fractures, and heart and pulmonary contusions (Kobayashi and Mellen 2009; Pavier et al. 2015). Each part of the body responds differently to blunt impact, requiring tailored analyses to each region of interest (Pavier et al. 2015).

Two sources documenting the injuries from field use of blunt-impact NLWs are as follows:

• A 2013 study (Kenny and Bovbjerg) conducted by Penn State University and funded by the Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Program (JNLWP) focused on use-of-force records detailing 1,398 non-lethal blunt-impact weapon uses between 1995 and 2010, as maintained by the Los Angeles Sheriff's Department (LASD).

Weapons reported were Stinger (37 mm round containing 0.32 caliber rubber balls), flash-bang, Sting-ball grenades, and 12-gauge beanbag.

A 2004 study (Hubbs and Klinger) conducted by the National Institutes of Justice (NIJ) analyzed case studies from 106 agencies nationwide after a targeted data call, resulting in 373 separate case reports during which 979 blunt-impact weapon munitions were fired. Weapons reported in these case reports were 37 mm plastic batons, 12-gauge bean-bag, 12-gauge "super-sock", and 40 mm "eXact iMpactTM" rounds.

Injuries to the abdomen, chest, and back⁴ made up between 45 and 66% of the reported injuries (compared to \sim 30% to extremities and up to 12% to the head face and neck). Hubbs and Klinger (2004) reported injury type and body part (Table 2-1). Of the thoracic injuries, 89% are bruises and abrasions, and 4% are fractures.

Injury Type	Injury Count	Percent
Bruise	227	60%
Abrasion	111	29%
Fracture	15	4%
Laceration	11	3%
Penetration	8	2%
Death	5	1%
Total	377	100%

Table 2-1. Injuries to the Chest and Abdomen from Blunt-Impact NLWs

Source: Hubbs and Klinger (2004).

To identify potentially overlooked injuries from field use, we turn to medical case studies such as that by Rezende-Neto et al. (2009), which summarize medical case studies of thoracic injuries from rubber and plastic bullets between 1972 and 2009. Out of 19 sources reporting 865 total cases, 123 cases reported injuries to the thoracic region (Table 2-2).

Case studies, which tend to focus on more severe injuries, indicate present lung contusion (44 of 123 reports) and rib fracture (22 of 123 reports) as predominant injuries (Rezende-Neto et al. (2009). Based on our own and prior analyses (Kenny and Bovbjerg 2013), we believe that lung contusion will be classified as a significant injury and therefore chose to focus on an injury that may or may not be significant to improve the fidelity of current RSI predictions.⁵ We chose to focus this document on rib fractures and to identify the physical attributes of such fractures that can be used to determine the significance based

⁴ The LASD dataset did not distinguish between chest and back impacts.

⁵ In this report, we only consider lung contusion when it is a complication that *results* from rib fracture.

on several rib fracture types. For reasons of scoping, we do not include analysis of lacerations or penetrating injuries.

Thoracic Injury	Number Out of 123 Reported Thoracic Injuries
Lung contusion	44
Rib fracture	22
Pneumothorax	16
Hemothorax	15
Heart laceration	7
Vascular injury	6
Lung laceration	5
Cardiac tamponade	2
Sternum fracture	1
Soft tissue injury	1
Scapula fracture	1
Myocardial contusion	1
Esophageal injury	1
Arterial embolization	1

Table 2-2. Types and Numbers of Thoracic Injuries from 19 Sources of Case Studies Describing Thoracic Injury Due to Rubber and Plastic Bullets

Source: Adapted from information in Rezende-Neto et al. (2009, Table 1).

C. Thoracic Cage and Pulmonary Anatomy

The *thorax* occupies the region between the neck and abdomen. It contains several vital organs (Hansen 2014) inclding the heart and lungs as well as partially encased organs such as the liver and kidneys. These organs are protected by a portion of the axial skeleton known as the *thoracic cage* (see Figure 2-1). Twelve pairs of ribs, the *costal cartilages*, the sternum, and the thoracic vertebrae comprise the thoracic cage. The structures and organs of the thorax, such as the heart and lungs, are encircled and protected by the thoracic cage. Anteriorly, the ribs articulate (connect loosely to allow motion such as a joint) through the costal cartilages with the *sternum* (commonly known as the breastbone). Posteriorly, the ribs articulate with 12 corresponding vertebrae of the spine. The joints between the sternum, costal cartilages, and the ribs are fairly rigid due to the support of cartilage, ligaments, and muscles of the thoracic cage.



Source: Hansen (2014, 89).

Note for Figure 2-1: Left: The bone structure of the thoracic cage showing the sternum, ribs, costal cartilage, and thoracic vertebrae. The ribs are numbered sequentially. Right: The structure of a single rib.

Figure 2-1. The Thoracic Cage

The 12 ribs are divided into 3 types. Starting at the top of the thoracic cage, the first seven ribs (ribs 1–7) are known as true ribs because they articulate directly with the sternum. Ribs 8 through 12 do not articulate with the sternum and are known as false ribs. Ribs 8, 9, and 10 articulate with the costal cartilage of the rib directly above, while ribs 11 and 12 do not articulate anteriorly and are known as floating ribs. All 12 pairs of ribs articulate with their corresponding vertebrae in the posterior portion of the thoracic cage.

The space containing the heart and the lungs, known as the *thoracic cavity*, is inside the thoracic cage. This cavity is further divided into three compartments called the *right pleural space*, the *left pleural space*, and the *mediastinum*. Each lung lies within the left and right pleural spaces and is enveloped by a membrane structure called the pleura (Hansen 2014, 100) (see Figure 2-2).

The mediastinum is the "middle" section of the chest cavity. The mediastinum contains all of the chest organs except the lungs. Organs located in the mediastinum include the heart, the aorta, the thymus gland, the chest portion of the trachea, the esophagus, lymph nodes, and important nerves (University of Southern California, n.d.). The left and right pleural cavities normally contain a small amount of fluid that serves to lubricate the surfaces to prevent friction during respiration. The heart and its great vessels (the venae cavae, pulmonary artery, pulmonary veins, and aorta) (Stedman 2012) occupy the space between the left and right pleural cavities in the mediastinum.



Source: Hansen (2014, 100).

Figure 2-2. Pleural Spaces and the Lungs

D. Blunt-Impact Injuries of the Thoracic Cage and Their HCC Level of Care

We separate thoracic blunt-impact injuries into four categories: bruises and abrasions, rib and sternum fractures, pulmonary injuries, and solid organ injuries. Below, we review each injury type and the associated HCC level of care. We expanded our literature survey beyond NLWs because there was so little literature pertaining specifically to NLW injuries. We found that most of our sources come from automotive accidents, which differ from NLW blunt impact use we address in Appendix D to this document. We also found that under such circumstances, multiple injuries are often co-occurring and that diagnostics and protocols for care are often agnostic to the relationship (causal or otherwise) between the different injuries.

1. Bruises and Abrasions

A bruise (also known as a contusion) results from damage to blood cells beneath the skin. Bruising often results from blunt-impact NLWs. The treatment protocol is known as the RICE (rest, ice, compression, elevation) method. We conclude that bruises require an HCC0 standard of care (Mayo Clinic 2017).

More severe impacts may produce a subcutaneous hematoma (a lump produced by the pooled blood), which often resolves without assistance. On rare occasion, a hematoma requires aspiration (draining). Further analysis is required to establish the attributes that determine a given hematoma's needed level of care (Mayo Clinic 2017). We found no

reports of NLW hematomas requiring surgical treatment, while noting these sources did not follow patients for multiple weeks (the time scale over which such a diagnosis would be made).

Abrasions result from superficial damage to the skin, typically classified as either level 1 (epidermal only) or level 2 (also involving the dermis). If all layers of the skin are removed due to the trauma, the injury is known as an avulsion. Level 1 and 2 abrasions must be cleaned, and topical antibiotics can be used to prevent infection and promote healing. (WebMD 2015a) which are HCC0 standards of care. Avulsions may require stiches or skin grafting which are HCC1+ standards of care, but these types of abrasions are never reported in NLW field use.

2. Rib and Sternum Fractures

Rib fractures are the most common chest trauma injuries reported by trauma centers (Sharma et al. 2008). Over two-thirds of patients who experience chest trauma suffer some kind of rib fracture. Rib fractures range from simple fractures, with a single rib fractured transversely or obliquely, to more complicated fractures (as defined in Hansen 2014; Figure 2-3, taken from Hansen, 2014). A transverse fracture describes a broken piece of bone at a right angle to the bone's axis. An oblique fracture describes a break with curved or sloped pattern (Hansen 2014; WebMD 2015b). A simple fracture, also known as a hairline fracture, is where there is no separation of the fragments (Stedman 2012, 738). If the ends of a fractured rib overlap each other, an overriding fracture results. The most common ribs fractured are ribs 3–10 (Hansen 2014, 92). Ribs 1, 2, 11, and 12 are more protected during a blunt force impact with less likelihood of injury (Hansen 2014, 92). Costal cartilage fractures and cartilage separation from the ribs or the sternum also occur. Sternal fractures⁶ are also fairly simple injuries that can occur from anterior (front) thoracic trauma, including deceleration injuries resulting from motor vehicle accidents (Khorati, Rajakulasingam, and Shah 2013).

Simple rib fractures, also known as closed fractures, do not break through the skin. Most simple fractures are treated on an outpatient basis (Easter 2001; Middleton et al. 2003; Mayberry et al. 2009; Kouritas et al. 2013), with an HCC0 standard of care if over-thecounter (OTC) pain medicine is adequate for pain relief and respiration. Rib fractures are very painful since the mechanics of breathing expands and contracts the area around the injury, causing the fractured ends of the bones to rub against each other and against the nerve-rich surrounding tissue. A common marker for adequate management of rib fractures is the patient's respiration. The pain of a rib fracture can interfere with breathing and prevent adequate gas exchange in the lungs. Respiratory failure can result with the buildup of carbon dioxide in the peripheral blood and a decrease in oxygen tension (hypoxemia).

⁶ Sternal fractures, although mentioned, are beyond the scope of this project.

Mechanical ventilation may become necessary if rib fracture pain prevents normal breathing (HCC1+). Studies indicate effective pain management produce positive outcomes from thoracic cage fractures (Jensen et al. 2016).



Source: Hansen (2014, 92).

Figure 2-3. Fractures of the Thoracic Cage

The HCC level required to treat rib injuries is often associated with the physical integrity of the rib cage (Easter 2001). The ribs and the thoracic cage provide attachment points for muscles that are involved in the respiration process (Vassilakopoulos 2012). Rib fractures can compromise support for respiratory muscles, disrupting respiratory mechanics. Simple single rib fractures that do not interfere with respiration can be treated conservatively with OTC pain medications and allowed to heal on their own (HCC0). However, if rib injuries damage the thoracic cage sufficiently such that the patient is unable to physically breathe on his or her own, mechanical ventilation and pain management treatments are required (HCC1+) to support healing. The clinician can monitor blood gases and lung capacity to determine level of care (Goldsworthy and Graham 2014). Spirometry⁷ provides a common measure of lung capacity, which measures an individual's rate and volume of respired gases (Stedman 2012)

With more severe trauma, more complicated injuries may result. Multiple rib fractures can occur, and the number of fractured ribs correlates with *associated* co-injuries and

⁷ Refer to Appendix C of this document under the subsection titled "Vital Capacity (VC)" for a detailed explanation of spirometry.

mortality with thoracic trauma patients (Sirmali et al. 2003; Flagel et al. 2005, Sharma et al. 2008; Al-Hassani et al. 2010; Karadayi et al. 2011).

Multiple rib fractures with two or more fractures on each rib, known as *flail chest*, can severely degrade the integrity of the chest wall, interfering with respiration. Flail or crushed chest has an anatomical and a clinical definition. Anatomically, it occurs when consecutive ribs are fractured such that a segment of the thoracic cage becomes detached from the rest of the cage (Dehghan et al. 2013). Detachment can occur when

- Three or more consecutive ribs are fractured in two or more locations,
- Three or more bilateral⁸ consecutive ribs are fractured, or
- Three or more rib fractures are associated with a sternal fracture.

Clinically, flail chest is diagnosed when the detached segment of the rib cage leads to a weakening of the thoracic wall (Nirula et al. 2009). Flail chest can weaken the chest wall significantly so that when the patient inspires, the chest near the flail segment recedes due to negative intrathoracic pressure and when the patient expires, the segment protrudes (a condition known as *paradoxical respiration* (see Figure 2-4). Pulmonary *complications* of flail chest include decreased lung volume, pneumonia, and atelectasis (complete or partial collapse of a lung or lobe of a lung).



Source: National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians (NAMET) (2016, 342) Figure 2-4. Flail Chest and Paradoxical Respiration

Management of flail chest is aimed at supporting the damaged thoracic wall, and the treatment requires hospitalization. A study based upon flail chest injury entries in the National Trauma Data Bank[®] (NTDB) shows that the vast majority of blunt trauma patients

⁸ Occurring on both sides.

with flail chest (82%) had a mean Intensive Care Unit (ICU) stay of 11.7 days and that 59% of the flail chest patients required mechanical ventilation (Dehghan et al. 2013). Surgical stabilization is also being considered as a technique to manage flail chest (Nirula and Mayberry 2010). From these data, we conclude that flail chest management requires HCC1+ care.

3. Pulmonary Injuries

a. Pneumothorax

Pneumothorax occurs when air invades the pleural space (Harrison 2014), which is a membrane interface between the lungs and rib cage. In healthy patients, the pleural space is empty except for a small amount of lubricating fluid. The pressure is normally higher in the lungs, allowing the lungs to inflate fully. The sharp edges of a fractured rib can puncture the pleural membrane, allowing air to enter the pleural space. This increase in pleural space pressure interferes with normal respiration (Zarogoulidis et al. 2014). Pneumothorax result in hypoxia (low blood oxygen). In severe cases, a tension pneumothorax may lead to respiratory arrest, and eventual death, if untreated (Leigh-Smith and Harris 2005). Increasing amounts of air accumulate in the pleural space and, with inspiration, can cause the pleura to shift the mediastinal structures, constricting the great vessels of the heart leading to a possible fatal hypotension (i.e., low blood pressure).

Pneumothorax can result from rib fractures (Baumann and Noppen 2004). It is the second most common sign of traumatic chest injury (behind rib injury). Occurrences have been quoted in 30%–50% of chest trauma cases (Harrison 2014; Zarogoulidis et al. 2014).

Prehospital treatment guidelines recommend that any open chest wound be sealed with supplemental oxygen supplied, if necessary (National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians (NAMET) 2016, 344). Care should be taken with supplemental oxygen since it may increase the amount of air accumulating in the pleural space and worsen the condition. If a tension pneumothorax develops and immediate lifesaving techniques are required, a needle thoracostomy could be performed in a prehospital setting.

No recognized guidelines or standards are available for the management of pneumothorax (Harrison 2014). Generally, the patient is monitored by the clinician to determine whether invasive draining of trapped air is necessary. If surgical intervention is necessary, a chest drain or needle (thoracentesis) is inserted into the pleura cavity in the "safe triangle," which is located on the side of the patient and just under the armpit, to minimize any potential damage to structures (Fontaine and Page 2011). In the case of a tension pneumothorax, an immediate needle thoracentesis is performed in the second intercostal space, followed by an insertion of a chest drain. In practice, pneumothorax is nearly always treated by the insertion of a tube drain into the pleural spaces to drain the accumulated air (Fontaine and Page 2011; Mowery et al. 2011; Broderick 2013) and, therefore, HCC1+ is the standard of care.

Clinical studies advocate for different pneumothorax management strategies (Knottenbelt and van der Spuy 1990; Yadav, Jalili, and Zehtabchi 2010; Kaneda et al. 2013). With complications that arise from thoracentesis (Bailey 2000) and rapid expansion of collapsed lungs, clinical studies are geared toward understanding which pneumothoraces can be managed conservatively (Harrison 2014). Several researchers are advocating a non-surgical, observational approach for those patients who have pneumothorax and are "clinically stable" and have less than 10% of their lung collapsed (Baumann and Noppen 2004; Sahota et al. 2016). It is possible in the future that treatment of pneumothoraces will be more conservative and surgery may be minimized and the standard of care may become HCC0 in the future.

b. Hemothorax

Hemothorax occurs when blood accumulates in the pleural spaces (Davies and Lee 2008; Boersma, Stigt, and Smit 2010). A patient's hematocrit value is used to diagnose a hemothorax. The hematocrit value is the percentage of fluid volume that contains red blood cells. If hematocrit values in the pleural space exceeds 50%, the effusion is considered a hemothorax (Broderick 2013, 93). A hemothorax is usually the result of chest trauma, such as rib fracture, that involves injury to blood vessels or lung tissue (Khandhar, Johnson, and Calhoon 2007). Misthos et al. (2004) and Plourde et al. (2014) found that blunt thoracic trauma that included at least one rib fracture is a significant risk factor for delayed hemothorax. Like pneumothorax, the treatment is also invasive (Broderick 2013). A chest tube is inserted into the pleura in the intercostal spaces to drain accumulated blood. Further surgical intervention may be required to repair blood vessels or lung tissue if blood continues to accumulate after initial drain (retained hemothorax). We conclude that a hemothorax requires HCC1+ level of care.

c. Lung contusion

Lung contusion, or pulmonary contusion, can arise from blunt impact damage of bony or cartilaginous structures in the thorax (e.g., a rib) which tears lung tissue (Cohn and DuBose 2010). The injury leads to delayed pathophysiological changes in the lung, hours after injury. These changes include bleeding, mucus, and edema (i.e., excessive fluid accumulation). The changes may produce shortness of breath, coughing, and pain. Hypoxia (i.e., deficiency in the amount of oxygen reaching the tissues) is the primary symptom to manage (Cohn and DuBose 2010; Pharaon, Marasco, and Mayberry 2015).

Prehospital care (National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians (NAMET) 2016, 342) involves the monitoring of peripheral blood gases by pulse oximetry (Culver

2012) and administration of supplemental oxygen. Depending on the severity of the contusion, mechanical ventilation or surgery may be required to treat the injury. Pulmonary toilet (i.e. cleaning pulmonary airways of excess fluids and obstructions) and fluid management are also important to keep airways clear. If respiratory distress occurs, intubation and mechanical ventilation become necessary. Treatment of a lung contusion injury should be considered HCC1+.

4. Solid Organ Injuries (SOIs)

a. Abdominal solid organ injuries (ASOIs): Liver, kidneys, and spleen

While generally regarded as organs of the abdomen, the liver, kidneys, and spleen are subject to injury from thoracic trauma (Sirmali et al. 2003; Sharma et al. 2008). These organs are placed close to the lower ribs. The incidence of ASOI associated with rib fracture is reported c.a. $\sim 10\%$ –16% (Rostas et al. 2016). While ASOI does not necessarily correlate with the number of fractured ribs (Swaid et al. 2015), it correlates with the pattern of breakage. Lower rib fractures (9–12) correlate with ASOI in thoracic trauma patients (Al-Hassani et al. 2010). Later studies indicate fractures in the middle and lower rib sections (ribs 5–12) are better predictors of ASOI (Rostas et al. 2016) than lower ribs alone. Individual rib fractures do not correlate with injury to a specific abdominal organ. For example, no repertoire of rib fractures predicts a liver injury over a spleen injury.

ASOI treatment depends on many medical indications (Schroeppel and Croce 2007). If hemodynamically stable⁹, awake, and alert, the patient is generally discharged from a medical facility. If the patient is hemodynamically unstable, indicating abdominal bleeding, then surgical intervention (HCC 1+ care) is warranted. Alternatively, a patient with ASOI injuries who is diagnosed as hemodynamically stable via computed tomography (CT) scan is generally treated nonoperatively in a trauma center. We assume that non-operative treatment in a trauma center is HCC1+ level of care.

b. Heart and thoracic vascular injuries

Blunt cardiac injury (BCI) is an infrequent but potentially fatal thoracic injury (Joseph et al. 2016). The prevailing clinical assessment is that rib injuries—in particular, first and second rib fractures—are markers for BCI and great vessel injuries. However, this idea remains controversial. Studies indicate that rib fractures are not good predictors of fatal BCI (Joseph et al. 2016). Thoracic vascular injuries have been found to be associated with rib fractures in thoracic trauma patients. However, not enough evidence is available to support the idea that rib fractures would be suitable markers for great vessel or other vascular injuries (Woodring et al. 1982; Sakellaridis et al. 2004). It is unclear from current

⁹ A lack of bleeding or a normally functioning intact circulatory system (Ref: Stedman's).

data that a particular rib fracture could predict these injuries or if the rib fracture itself can cause BCI or great vessel injury. In the opinion of many clinicians, an assessment of thoracic vascular injury is not indicated for patients with first and second rib fractures alone. Other supporting information is needed for an indication of vascular injury (Gupta, Jamshidi, and Rubin 1997).

Blunt trauma cardiac injuries take many forms including cardiac rupture, cardiac valve injuries, pericardial abnormalities, and vascular injuries (El-Chami, Nicholson, and Helmy 2008). Cardiac rupture is usually fatal, while cardiac contusion are managed with ICU care or surgical intervention (Navid and Gleason 2008). Hemodynamically unstable patients with either cardiac or great vessel injury require immediate surgical intervention, while hemodynamically stable patients with similar injury may warrant ICU care and monitoring. There are no specific clinical trials defining a standard of care for these injuries. Even though there is a lack of current evidence that rib fractures cause BCI or great vessel injuries, future research may prove otherwise. Therefore, we will take a conservative approach and assume all rib-fracture-induced cardiac or great vessel injuries have an HCC1+ level of care.

E. Pulmonary Complications of Thoracic Trauma

The mechanism of respiration requires the concerted movement of the muscles and bony structures of the thoracic cage (Easter 2001). Blunt trauma to the thorax and rib fracture can disrupt this mechanism, reducing air flow into and out of the lungs. Rib fractures may decrease respiratory volume by causing pain and splinting,¹⁰ contributing to atelectasis and pneumonia.

Inadequate respiration not only leads to insufficient gas exchange in the lung (Wagner 2012), but also prevents lung secretions, such as surfactants (Culver 2012), involved in gas exchange and mucus from circulating in and out of the lung. Pain discourages a patient from coughing these secretions out, and they become trapped in collapsed localized or extensive areas of the lung, which can lead to atelectasis. Retained secretions also promote microbe growth and can lead to the development of pneumonia (Easter 2001).

With rib fractures, pain management becomes crucial to dampen the development of pulmonary complications (Jensen et al. 2016). Generally, patients with three or fewer fractured ribs can manage pain with non-opioid analgesics (Jensen et al. 2016), which is an HCC0 standard of care. However, as the complexity of damage from blunt thoracic trauma increases, the use of opioids or more intrusive forms of pain management, such as nerve blocks, may be necessary. If pain persists and prevents the patient from breathing adequately, applying mechanical ventilation may be necessary to assist the patient's natural

¹⁰ Stiffening of the thorax in response to the pain of the rib fracture. Splinting discourages taking full breaths.

breathing (Easter 2001). The use of opioids and nerve blocks for pain and mechanical ventilation for assistance with breathing are HCC1+ standards of care.

a. Pneumonia

Pneumonia is a condition of inflammation of the lung parenchyma (i.e., tissue) in which the alveolar sacs fill with fluid (Stedman 2012). Insufficient breathing and coughing caused by the pain of rib fracture may lead to mucus and fluid buildup within the airways. This buildup promotes microorganism growth, leading to infection. Bacterial pneumonial infections are treated with antibiotics (Rabbat and Huchon 2008a). Non-bacterial infections are treated with antibiotics (Rabbat and Huchon 2008a). Non-bacterial infectious microbe (Rabbat and Huchon 2008b). Hospitalization is appropriate in severe cases requiring mechanical ventilation, chest pain or contusion (Rabbat and Huchon 2008a). Other indicators of severity include extremes in temperature (below 95°F or above 104°F), a respiratory rate greater than 30 breaths per minute, or low blood pressure (< 90/60 millimeters of mercury (mmHg)).

Because pneumonia is treated with prescription medication and may progress to the point of needing mechanical ventilation, we presume pneumonia requires HCC1+ standards of care.

b. Atelectasis

Atelectasis is a condition of the lung in which the airways and alveoli collapse, causing gases to be trapped inside the lung (Peroni and Boner 2000). Atelectasis occurs in areas of the lung that are usually undamaged. However, injuries such as thoracic trauma can cause airway obstruction or an increase in surface tension that cause the alveoli to collapse. Atelectasis can occur if rib fractures interfere with efficient breathing and coughing. Insufficient breathing and coughing can lead to accumulations of excess fluid and sputum. Obstructions in airways are not cleared efficiently through coughing. Surfactants, which are fluids that reduce the surface tension within alveoli and allow their inflation under normal breathing conditions, can decrease, leading to lung collapse and atelectasis. If the condition is severe, respiration and gas exchange can become affected. Severe atelectasis is known as pulmonary collapse. Atelectasis is a common complication in blunt thoracic trauma (Shorr et al. 1987) and has been seen as a complication in rib fractures on the order of 3%–7% of the time (Sirmali et al. 2003; Plourde et al. 2014).

No specific, evidence-based protocol exists for the treatment of atelectasis (Schindler 2005). However, the most common treatment for less severe cases of atelectasis is chest physiotherapy (Peroni and Boner 2000)—specifically, the removal of mucus and sputum plugs by coughing or clapping the patient on the back. This treatment for atelectasis appears to be an HCC0. However, if rib fracture pain and damage prevent chest physiotherapy treatment, the application of pain management treatments can become necessary. Also,

invasive bronchoscopy¹¹ to find and clear sputum plugs in the nasal, tracheal, and bronchial passages as well as nasotracheal aspiration are common treatments of atelectasis due to rib fractures (Karadayi et al. 2011). Therefore, the treatment for atelectasis as a complication from rib fracture is considered HCC1+.

¹¹ Inspection of the interior of the tracheobronchial tree through a bronchoscope (Stedman 2012).

In this chapter, we discuss methods to classify rib fractures into different types and then estimate whether $P(rib fracture_{type} is significant | rib fracture_{type} occurred)$, the probability that a rib fracture type is significant, given that it has occurred. We first discuss some of the challenges inherent with the available rib fracture data. We then evaluate rib fracture significance in light of these challenges.

A. Challenges in Estimating the Significance of Rib Fractures

Approximately 300,000 patients are treated annually in the United States for rib fractures (Shauib et al. 2014, 159), and the medical literature contains an abundance of rib fracture data. However, applying the reported data to our statistical framework described in the Introduction proved challenging for the following reasons:

- Most blunt-impact trauma data, including rib fracture data, are from motor vehicle accidents, falls, assaults, and industrial accidents (Sirmali et al. 2003, 135), which provide injury mechanisms that may differ from blunt-impact NLWs (i.e., low mass/high velocity vs. high mass/low velocity). For our analysis, we treated all data the same, regardless of mechanism of injury.
- Certain populations are more vulnerable to rib fractures than others, particularly the elderly (≥ 65 years of age) as a result of decreased bone density (Pressley et al. 2012, 911). Older patients with even a single fracture or those patients with cardiac and/or pulmonary conditions have greater susceptibility to complications than younger adults (Middleton et al. 2003, 30). Furthermore, children display greater vulnerability than adults to intrathoracic injuries via blunt trauma. Their chest walls are more pliant, which protects their ribs from fracture but allows for greater energy transfer to the intrathoracic organs and greater incidence of complications (hemothorax, pneumothorax, and lung contusion) (Sirmali et al. 2003, 136; Kessel et al. 2014, 834). This difference in vulnerability to rib fracture is a challenge because some data sets do not consider age and/or pre-existing conditions when reporting rib fracture data. For our analysis, we assume that every person is equally vulnerable to rib fractures, regardless of age and/or pre-existing cardiac and/or pulmonary conditions.
- When reporting rib fractures, clinicians and medical researchers rarely capture data on rib fractures in isolation, and the data that do exist rarely indicate the characteristic of the fracture (e.g., transverse, oblique, overriding, and so forth; see Figure 2-3), how many fractures within one rib, location within the rib, or

which rib. Investigating the mechanisms of rib fractures, their effects, and complications is not generally a concern in the medical literature since clinicians treat the patient as a whole system and not as a series of unrelated (or loosely related) subsystems (rib fractures, thoracic cage injuries, pulmonary injuries, organ injuries, and so forth). In Gordy et al., Dr. Morad Hameed eloquently states the data complexity: "Chest well trauma is an extremely heterogeneous clinical entity with many characteristics including multiple fractures, displacement, flail chest and thoracic deformity, underlying lung contusion and [other] associated injuries" (Gordy et al. 2014, 662).

Flagel et al. states, "the effect of fractured ribs on mortality and morbidity either independently or synergistically in conjunction with other injuries is difficult to determine" (Flagel et al. 2005, 717). Of rib fracture patients, "90% will have associated injuries, 50% will require operative and intensive care unit care, 33% will require discharge to an extended care facility, and 12% die before hospital discharge" (Chapman et al. 2016, 96). Patients can develop complications (e.g., pneumonia, respiratory failure, delayed hemothorax) (Easter 2001, 320; Shields et al. 2010, e119), and most patients who develop complications will do so within 2 weeks (Shields et al. 2010, e117). It is often difficult to determine whether these complications are caused by the rib fracture or by the blunt impact. We would like to assess rib fractures in isolation, without considering other injuries or complications or, at a minimum, only focus on those injuries or complications that are causal, but this type of assessment is not always possible. For our analysis, we break down the terms in our statistical framework to explicitly consider the likelihood and consequence of each potential injury or complication given that a particular rib fracture type occurs.

- This analysis encompasses potential injuries to many bodily structures, including the 24 ribs of the thoracic cage and internal organs. In addition, the human thoracic region is composed of a large number of different soft and hard tissues, each with its own properties. This complexity contrasts with our previous significant injury studies in which the biomechanical system was a small well-defined system with well-defined responses. The complexities for this study required the analysis of a broad set of injuries and potential complications.
- Finally, we found a near-total lack of standards for quantifying rib fracture as a permanent disability, despite recent reports indicating that long-term pain and disability are more likely than previously expected (see Appendix B). In the absence of such standards, we attempt to determine rib fracture severity significance by examining the potential of long-term effects of chronic pain.

Where necessary, due to insufficient data, we make assumptions from the medical literature to assess the significance of rib fractures and/or the significance of any causal

complications.¹² The following sections describe our results in the form of a statistical framework utilizing HCC standards of care and restrictions on life.

B. HCC Standard of Care to Treat Rib Fractures

As explained in the Introduction, one way we interpret DoDI 3200.19's definition of significant injury is one for which HCC1 or higher treatment is the standard of care (DoD 2012, 13).

In a previous project for JNLWD on blunt-impact RSI, Kenny and Bovbjerg (2013) state that the standard of care for a fracture is always HCC1+, regardless of the weapon causing the fracture or the location of the fracture of the body. We find this statement overly conservative since certain types of rib fractures have an HCC0¹³ standard of care (Middleton et al. 2003, 2; Fathi 2012).

The following probability expressions are a review of information presented in the Introduction. The expression for the probability that a rib fracture type is significant, given that a rib fracture type occurred is as follows:

P(*rib fracture*_{type} *is significant* | *rib fracture*_{type} *occurred*).

We bin each rib fracture_{type} as either 0 (non-significant) or 1 (significant).

We bin a rib fracture_{type} as "0" (not significant) when the literature suggests that the standard of care for this type of rib fracture is only HCC0 and this type of rib fracture does not result in permanent injury that restricts employment or other activities for the rest of one's life. That is,

 $P(rib fracture_{type} is significant | rib fracture_{type} occurred) = 0.$

However, we bin a rib fracture_{type} as "1" (significant) when the literature indicates that the standard of care for this type of rib fracture is HCC1+ medical treatment or this type of rib fracture results in permanent injury. That is,

 $P(rib fracture_{type} is significant | rib fracture_{type} occurred) = 1.$

¹² We refer to any thoracic condition (injury or complication) *caused* by a rib fracture as a "complication." We refer to any condition (injury or complication) resulting from blunt impact, but not necessarily from rib fracture, as an "associated injury."

¹³ Patients with one rib fracture without any complications can be treated on an outpatient basis with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID). Since NSAIDs can be OTC drugs, we equate this treatment with HCC0 medical treatment defined as "self-aid, buddy aid, and combat lifesaver skills" (DoD 2012, 13).

Furthermore, $P(rib fracture_{type} is significant | rib fracture_{type} occurred)$ for a rib fracture_{type} that includes any causal complication(s) is the product of two expressions that should be evaluated for significance independently:

P(rib fracture_{type} is significant | rib fracture_{type} occurred)
 = P(complication is significant | complication occurred)
 × P(complication occurs | rib fracture_{type} occurred).

We systematically assess rib fracture type significance using HCC standards of care and visually depict this process in a decision flow diagram. Each rectangular box in the decision flow diagram is a rib fracture_{type}, and each rib fracture_{type} is discussed in the context of this framework. The decision flow diagram is broken down into sequential steps, and each new step also includes all preceding steps to logically guide the reader through this framework. The decision flow diagram is presented in its entirety in the concluding chapter.

We begin our analysis by assessing the significance of "three or more simultaneously fractured ribs."

1. Three or More Simultaneously Fractured Ribs Is a Significant Injury

We propose that three or more simultaneously fractured ribs is a significant injury because of increased mortality and increased risk of causal complications that have an HCC1+ standard of care. See Figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1. Decision Flow Diagram: Three or More Simultaneously Fractured Ribs Is a Significant Injury

In the first rectangular box (labeled "A" and shaded blue) of the decision flow diagram (see Figure 3-1), we consider the HCC standard of care to treat three or more fractured ribs. To complicate matters, the terms "number of fractured ribs" and "number of rib fractures" are used interchangeably throughout the medical literature, often referring to the same data set (Lee et al. 1990, 690; Karmy-Jones and Jurkovich 2004, 248; Flagel et al. 2005, 719).

"Number of fractured ribs" means the number of ribs fractured out of a possible 24 ribs. "Number of rib fractures" could mean "number of fractured ribs," but it could also mean the "total number of fractures within all ribs." A closer examination of the data sources reveal that the research groups pull data from the NTDB using International Classification of Disease Codes, 9th revision (ICD-9) to identify patients with one or more *fractured* ribs (Lee et al. 1990, 689; Flagel et al. 2005, 718).¹⁴ ICD-9 codes do not capture number of fractures within one rib or total number of rib fractures within all ribs, which further supports that "number of fractured ribs" is the intended statement. Furthermore, some researchers explicitly state that their analysis involves number of *fractured* ribs (Sirmali et al. 2003, 133). For our analysis, we will assume that papers that use either term mean "number of fractured ribs."

No specific statements in the medical literature indicate an HCC1+ standard of care for three or more fractured ribs in isolation. However, a comprehensive literature review in 2012 found that seven studies reported that patients with three or more fractured ribs faced a statistically significant increased likelihood of mortality, four studies indicated that patient mortality increased with an increase in "ribs fractured" (which we interpret as "number of fractured ribs"), and four studies found no correlation between number of fractured ribs and patient mortality (Battle, Hutchings, and Evans 2012, 11). We were unable to obtain the references cited in Battle that indicated no correlation between mortality and number of fractured ribs; however, based on the paper titles, the four studies focus on age. Battle, Hutchings, and Evans performed a meta-analysis of all available data and determined a correlation between three or more fractured ribs and increased mortality.¹⁵ The odds of mortality for three or more fractured ribs is "[statistically] significantly higher when compared with patients with less than three rib[s] fracture[d]" (odds ratio 2.02 (1.89–2.15, 95% confidence interval); p < 0.00001) (Battle, Hutchings, and Evans 2012, 12–13).

We hypothesize that this increased mortality rate could result from increased complications. Patients with three or more fractured ribs have increased likelihood of splenic injury and liver injury (i.e., solid organ injuries), and three or more fractured ribs can be "a useful triage tool" for determining patients who should be transferred to a trauma center (Karmy-Jones and Jurkovich 2004, 248). This statement—"a useful triage tool"—can be traced back to a retrospective study done in 1990 by Lee and fellow clinicians and has been widely adopted as an indicator of serious injury (Lee et al. 1990, 689; Karmy-Jones and

¹⁴ ICD-9 codes 807.00–807.19 classify rib fractures with the fifth number, indicating number of fractured ribs. For the fifth number, "0" indicates number of fractured ribs unspecified and "9" indicates multiple fractured ribs, but number of fractured ribs is unspecified (Lee et al. 1990, 690).

¹⁵ A paper in 2013, a year after Battle, Hutchings, and Evans, states that overall trauma burden and age are better predictors than number of fractured ribs when determining outcome (Whitson et al. 2013, 140). Unfortunately, Whitson's analysis of data from the NTDB is presented in a way that is not helpful to our analysis (i.e., number of fractured ribs not specified).

Jurkovich 2004, 248; Sharma et al. 2008, 313). Another retrospective study by Sirmali et al. (2003), which does not cite Lee et al., recommends that patients with three or more fractured ribs should be hospitalized due to increased risk of flail chest and other pulmonary complications that are sometimes delayed (i.e., pneumothorax, hemothorax, pulmonary contusion, pneumonia, and atelectasis) (Sirmali et al. 2003, 135).

We can now write the following equation:

$$\begin{split} P(rib\ fracture \ge 3\ ribs\ is\ significant\ |\ rib\ fracture \ge 3\ ribs\ occurred) \\ = P(\ complication\ is\ significant\ |\ complication\ occurred) \\ \times\ P(\ complication\ occurs\ |\ rib\ fracture\ \ge 3\ ribs\ occurred), \end{split}$$

where "complication" can be solid organ injuries, flail chest, pneumothorax, hemothorax, pulmonary contusion, pneumonia, or atelectasis.

For the first term in the preceding equation, we know that the probability that the complication is significant given that the complication occurred is 1 because HCC1+ is the standard of care for each potential complication. Solid organ injuries, flail chest, pneumo-thorax, hemothorax, pulmonary contusion, pneumonia, and atelectasis are complications with an HCC1+ standard of care, as discussed in Chapter 2.

Therefore, we state that

P(*complication is significant | complication occurred*) = 1.

For the second term in the equation, we do not know the probability that a complication occurs, given that three or more fractured ribs occurred. The literature does not provide adequate detail to independently quantify the conditional likelihood of these complications. Therefore, we err on the side of caution and approximate this term as 1:

P(*complication occurs* | *rib fracture* \ge 3 *ribs occurred*) \approx 1.

Multiplying these terms together, we find that we can approximate the probability that three or more fractured ribs is significant, given that three or more fractured ribs occurred as follows:

 $P(rib \ fracture \ge 3 \ ribs \ is \ significant \ | \ rib \ fracture \ge 3 \ ribs \ occurred) = 1 \times (\approx 1) = \approx 1.$

That is, we bin three or more fractured ribs as a significant injury.

2. Two or More Simultaneous Fractures within One Rib Is a Significant Injury

We propose that one or two simultaneously fractured ribs, with two or more simultaneous fractures within one rib is a significant injury because of the increased risk of causal complications that have an HCC1+ standard of care. See Figure 3-2.


Figure 3-2. Decision Flow Diagram: Two or More Fractures within One Rib Is a Significant Injury

In the second rectangular box (labeled "B" and shaded blue) of the decision flow diagram (see Figure 3-2), we consider the HCC standard of care to treat two or more simultaneous fractures within one rib. When fractures occur in two places within one rib, the segment of bone between the two fractures is called a floating rib. This floating rib could puncture an organ (e.g., the heart or lung) or a major blood vessel (e.g., the aorta) (U.S. Army Medical Department Center and School, n.d., 1–4) and lead to other pulmonary complications including, but not limited to, hemothorax, pneumothorax, and pulmonary contusion.

Therefore, P(rib fracture ≥ 2 fractures within one rib is significant | rib fracture ≥ 2 fractures within one rib occurred) is the product of two expressions and can be written as follows:

$$\begin{split} P(rib\ fracture \ge 2\ fractures\ within\ one\ rib\ is\ significant\ |\ rib\ fracture\ \ge 2\ fractures\ within\ one\ rib\ occurred) \\ = P(\ complication\ is\ significant\ |\ complication\ occurred) \\ \times \ P(\ complication\ occurred\ |\ rib\ fracture\ \ge 2\ fractures\ within\ one\ rib\ occurred). \end{split}$$

HCC1+ treatments are the standard of care for damage to an organ, major vessel, hemothorax, pneumothorax, and pulmonary contusion, as discussed in Chapter 2. Therefore, the probability that a complication is significant, given that the complication occurred is 1:

P(*complication is significant | complication occurred*) = 1,

where "complication" is damage to an organ or vessel, hemothorax, pneumothorax, or pulmonary contusion.

The literature does not describe the probability of a complication occurring given two or more simultaneous fractures within one rib. In the absence of quantitative data, we err on the side of caution and approximate this term as 1:

P(*complication occurred* | *rib fracture* ≥ 2 *fractures within one rib occurred*) ≈ 1 .

So,

```
P(rib \ fracture \ge 2 \ fractures \ within \ one \ rib \ is \ significant \ | \ rib \ fracture \ge 2 \ fractures \ within \ one \ rib \ occurred)= 1 \times (\approx 1) = \approx 1.
```

At this point in the decision flow diagram, three or more simultaneously fractured ribs is a significant injury (see Figure 3-1), and two or more simultaneous fractures within any one rib is also a significant injury (see Figure 3-2).

3. Bilateral Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury

We propose that bilateral rib fracture is a significant injury due to potential chest wall destabilization and the increased risk of causal complications including pulmonary complications like respiratory failure and pneumonia, which will have HCC1+ standards of care. See Figure 3-3.



Figure 3-3. Decision Flow Diagram: Bilateral Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury

In the third rectangular box (labeled "C" and shaded blue) in the decision flow diagram (see Figure 3-3), we consider the HCC standard of care to treat bilateral rib fracture. We need to first define "bilateral fracture" since it is poorly defined in the medical literature (Easter 2001; Pressley et al. 2012; Chapman et al. 2016). Stedman's Medical Dictionary defines "bilateral" as "relating to, affecting, or having, two sides" (Stedman 2012, 209) but does not define the term "bilateral fracture." Chapman et al. (2016) and Pressley et al. (2012) do not define bilateral fracture, and Easter defines it as both "sides" (Easter 2001, 326). We interpret "bilateral rib fracture" as at least one fractured rib on each side of the thorax (right, left) with the sternum in between.

Bilateral fractures can result in chest wall destabilization and pulmonary complications. Several chest wall trauma scoring systems use bilateral fracture as a risk factor variable. These chest wall trauma scoring systems include the Rib Fracture Score (RFS), Organ Injury Scale (OIS) Chest Wall grade, Chapman et al.'s RibScore, and Pressley et al.'s Chest Wall Trauma Scoring System¹⁶ (Easter 2001, 326; Chapman et al. 2016, 96). Chapman et al.'s RibScore and Pressley et al.'s Chest Wall Trauma Scoring System use bilateral fracture as one of the risk factors to predict pulmonary complications¹⁷ (e.g., respiratory failure, pneumonia) in rib fracture patients (Chapman et al. 2016, 97). Bilateral fractures are associated with increased¹⁸ morbidity and mortality (Pressley et al. 2012, 911; Chapman et al. 2016, 96). In the Chapman et al. and Pressley et al. studies, it is difficult to parse the individual contribution of bilateral fracture to risk of pulmonary complications since both studies use bilateral fracture in a point-scoring system that uses multiple factors to assess risk.

Therefore, *P*(*rib fracture bilateral is significant | rib fracture bilateral occurred*) is the product of two expressions and can be written as follows:

P(rib fracture bilateral is significant | rib fracture bilateral occurred) = P(complication is significant | complication occurred) × P(complication occurred | rib fracture bilateral occurred).

Both chest wall destabilization¹⁹ (Dittmann et al. 1982) and pulmonary complications are significant because they have HCC1+ standards of care (see Chapter 2). Therefore,

P(*complication is significant | complication occurred*) = 1.

We do not know the probability that chest wall destabilization or pulmonary complications will occur, given that a bilateral fracture occurred. Chapman et al. describes the percentage of patients with bilateral fracture who also have respiratory failure (42.5%) or

¹⁶ Pressley et al.'s (2012) Chest Wall Trauma Scoring System is referred to as Chest Trauma Score (CTS) in Chapman et al. (2016, 96).

¹⁷ Chapman et al.'s RibScore factors include ≥ 6 ribs fractured, flail chest, bilateral fractures, first rib fracture, ≥ 3 displaced fractures, and one fracture in each of three anatomic areas (anterior, lateral, and posterior) (Chapman et al. 2016, 97). Pressley et al.'s Chest Wall Trauma scoring factors include age, pulmonary contusion, and number of ribs fractured to identify the risk of respiratory failure (Pressley et al. 2012, 911).

¹⁸ "Increased" morbidity and mortality is not quantified in the Chapman et al. (2016) or the Pressley et al. (2012) reports.

¹⁹ Chest wall destabilization is treated with surgery and possibly epidural pain medication, and both treatments are HCC1+ standards of care (Dittman 1982).

pneumonia (19.2%) (Chapman et al. 2016, 97). Unfortunately, this data set does not provide a way to determine whether these complications are a direct consequence of the bilateral fracture (causal). The data set includes patients with a bilateral fracture, but these patients may or may not have other risk factors contributing to an increased likelihood of chest wall destabilization or pulmonary complications, including \geq 6 ribs fractured, flail chest, first rib fracture, \geq 3 displaced fractures, and one fracture in each of three anatomic areas (anterior, lateral, and posterior) (Chapman et al. 2016, 97). In the absence of meaningful quantitative data, we err on the side of caution and approximate as 1:

P(*complication occurred* | *rib fracture* $_{bilateral}$ *occurred*) \approx 1.

The product of these two expressions yields the following:

 $P(rib fracture bilateral is significant | rib fracture bilateral occurred) = 1 \times (\approx 1) = \approx 1.$

At this point in the decision flow diagram, three or more simultaneously fractured ribs is a significant injury (see Figure 3-1), two or more simultaneous fractures within any one rib is a significant injury (see Figure 3-2), and a bilateral rib fracture is a significant injury (see Figure 3-3).

4. Open Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury

An open fracture, also known as a compound fracture, is a complex fracture in which the bone protrudes from the skin's surface, resulting in an open wound (Stedman 2012, 1198). We propose that an open rib fracture is a significant injury because of the need for surgical intervention and infection prevention and control, which have HCC1+ standards of care. See Figure 3-4.

In the fourth rectangular box (labeled "D" and shaded blue) in the decision flow diagram (see Figure 3-4), we consider the HCC standard of care to treat an open fracture.

Lafferty and researchers at the University of Minnesota-Regions Hospital investigated the operative treatment of chest wall injuries and found no studies that addressed the treatment of open rib fractures (Lafferty et al. 2011, 102). We have reached the same conclusion. Lafferty et al. suggest that one could apply the same treatment procedures used for any open fracture to procedures used for open rib fractures. These procedures include surgical irrigation,²⁰ debridement,²¹ and infection prevention and control (Lafferty et al. 2011, 102). Lafferty et al. suggest that internal fixation of open rib fractures, which is surgical stabilization of the fracture using hardware such as plates, screws, and splints, could be a

²⁰ Irrigation is a surgical term for washing a "body cavity, space, or wound" with a liquid (Stedman 2012, 900).

²¹ Debridement is removal of dead tissue and foreign matter from a wound (Stedman 2012, 442–443).

treatment for open rib fractures (Lafferty et al. 2011, 102). However, Aetna's 2016 insurance coverage policy, which references Lafferty et al., still considers this treatment experimental (Aetna 2016). Regardless, open rib fractures are significant because surgical irrigation, debridement, and infection prevention and control with a prescription antimicrobial drug are HCC1+ treatments. We stop the analysis at this step because the injury, open rib fracture, is already significant, regardless of the complications. That is,



 $P(rib fracture_{open} is significant | rib fracture_{open} occurred) = 1.$

Figure 3-4. Decision Flow Diagram: Open Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury

At this point in the decision flow diagram, three or more simultaneously fractured ribs is a significant injury (see Figure 3-1), two or more simultaneous fractures within any one rib is a significant injury (see Figure 3-2), a bilateral rib fracture is a significant injury (see Figure 3-3), and an open rib fracture is a significant injury (see Figure 3-3). Our analysis of types of rib fractures that have HCC1+ standards of care concludes.

5. Closed Rib Fractures (2 or fewer) are treated with HCC0 care

The classes of fractures not yet considered include fractures in one or two ribs, with each rib only fractured once—not a bilateral fracture and not an open fracture. The only type of rib fracture that fit these criteria is a closed rib fracture.

A closed rib fracture, commonly known as a simple rib fracture, occurs when the fractured bone does not break the skin (Hansen 2014; Stedman 2012, 1542). Closed rib fractures include transverse, oblique, and overriding and are categorized according to the

characteristic of the break (see Figure 2-3). A transverse rib fracture is a break that is perpendicular to the long axis of the bone; an oblique rib fracture is an angled break across the bone; and an overriding fracture is one in which one fragment of the fractured bone is positioned so it overlaps with the other fragment (Hansen 2014).

The general consensus among clinicians is that most patients with closed rib fractures without other complications can be treated on an outpatient basis (Easter 2001; Middleton et al. 2003; Mayberry et al. 2009; Kouritas et al. 2013) if OTC pain medicine is adequate for pain relief and respiration. Most closed rib fractures are "treated non-operatively using pain control and pulmonary hygiene," and most "heal spontaneously without major complications" (Lube 2013, 1). Often, fractured ribs are broken in one place. Most are not displaced, which allows for proper alignment during healing. Fractures can be "managed conservatively with simple pain control and time" (Fathi 2012). Since the type of pain medication in Lube and Fathi is not stated, we assume that the treatment is nonprescription, and therefore, an HCC0 treatment.

C. Restrictions to Life Caused by Closed Rib Fracture

In the previous section, we determined types of fractures that are significant injuries according to HCC standards of care. For those remaining rib fractures that do not have an HCC1+ standard of care, DoDI 3200.19 specifies a second way in which an injury, such as rib fracture type, can be considered significant: the injury results in death or "physical damage ... that ... restricts the employment or other activities of the person for the rest of his or her life" (DoD 2012, 14).

At present, few standards exist for grading disability or quality of life after rib injury (see Appendix B). Little is known about a rib fractures' contribution to chronic pain and long term disability (Gordy et al. 2014). Nor does the literature provide consistent association between fractures and chronic disability/pain. A study by Mayberry et al, concluded that patients with two or fewer fractures and no additional injuries and/or complications were able to return to work or usual activity sooner than patients with additional injuries (Kerr-Valentic et al. 2003).

Absent any convincing evidence to the contrary, we therefore conclude that the remaining class of HCC0 fractures (fractures in one or two ribs, each rib only fractured once, not bilateral, not an open fracture) do not present a significant risk of permanent injury.

However, given the lack of studies relating rib fractures to permanent injury, we recommend future investigation of metrics which evaluate blunt force impact effects on long term pain, mobility, and lung capacity. This includes the Mayberry group's effort to determine rib fracture attributes which predict long term disability (see Appendices A and B to this document).

Figure 3-5 shows the final step in the decision flow diagram.



Figure 3-5. Decision Flow Diagram: One or Two Simultaneously Fractured Ribs (Each Rib Only Fractured Once, Not a Bilateral Fracture, and Not an Open Fracture) Is Not Significant This page intentionally blank.

Due to the limitations of live-human, cadaveric, and animal testing for RSI assessment, the JNLWP has invested in the development of computational models to quantify the RSI for its fielded weapons and its weapons under development. For assessment of the RSI of blunt-impact NLWs, JNLWP has developed a collection of finite element models designed to calculate the human body's response to blunt impacts from the delivery of projectiles. The models developed thus far are known as the Advanced Total Body Model (ATBM) (Shen et al. 2012) and include models of the thorax, abdomen, head, eye, skin, arm and leg bones, and lower abdomen. These models account for the anatomy and geometry of the human body and the material property of tissues, simulate the interaction of human body with projectile and clothing during impact, and calculate propagation of motion and stress waves and the delivery of energy inside the tissue. For the thorax region, the following injuries are modeled: pulmonary contusion, rib fractures, cardiac injuries, pneumothorax, and lethality.

The geometry of the models was developed using CT images from the National Library of Medicine's Visible Man Project, and material properties for bone and tissue developed from the literature. The geometry was scaled to represent a 50th percentile male. The solver is LS-Dyna, which also contains several relevant modules and materials for human modeling. At present, the ATBM models are integrated into the Human Effects Modeling Analysis Program (HEMAP), which includes models of the projectiles and post-processing of the ATBM outputs, including the assessment of significance. Limitations to HEMAP/ATBM identified by the Institute for Defense Analyses (IDA) indicate that the models do not include complications or secondary injuries, are not adequately validated, and do not take into account natural variation in body properties or posture (Kramer Macheret, and Teichman 2016).

Despite the limitations and ongoing nature of the work, the alignment of RSI analyses with modeling capabilities (present and future) is essential to a full assessment of RSI. To that end, we provide detail on the thoracic injuries as modeled by ATBM to determine which of the attributes identified in our analysis can be directly modeled by ATBM and which of the attributes may require further development or experimental characterization.

A. Rib Model Development

Calculation of the deformation and stresses on ribs from blunt impact requires soft tissue models of the overlaying skin and muscle and of the underlying organs. The nine types of tissue modeled in ATBM's torso module are lungs, heart, spleen, liver, abdomen, diaphragm, stomach, skin and muscle.

The model of the rib cage includes the ribs, cartilage, spine, and sternum (Shen et al. 2008), using the geometry from the Visible Man Project (see Figure 4-1). Each rib was modeled using non-homogeneous isotropic beams attached to a band of shell elements.



Source: Shen et al. (2008, 021022-3).

Note for Figure 4-1: FE modeling treated the rib as inhomogeneous composite beam/shell structure with bone material properties directly calculated from the CT number.

Figure 4-1. Finite Element (FE) Modeling of the Rib Cage

The ribs were assumed to behave as linearly elastic isotropic material, despite the fact that bones are orthotropic,²² meaning that their elastic properties change when measured from different directions. Ribs are made up of cortical (hard) and trabecular (soft) bones and can be modeled using the Goldstein equations for the elastic modulus:

$$E = \begin{cases} 1352\rho^{1.48} (MPa) & 0 \le \rho < 1.4 \left(\frac{g}{cm^3}\right) \\ 34623\rho - 46246 (MPa) & 1.4 \le \rho < 2.0 \left(\frac{g}{cm^3}\right), \end{cases}$$

where the effective density was measured from the CT images.

Density and elastic modulus were calculated individually for up to 150 beam elements per rib. Shell elements use the same material properties and introduce additional rigidity

A comparison of orthotropic and isotropic simulations was performed by the ATBM developers, who concluded that "It is clear that isotropic or orthotropic material assumptions lead to only marginal difference in flexion stiffness. The tension and torsion stiffness are more sensitive to the material assumptions. During high-speed impact against ribs, bending along the short and long axis inside the cross-section are the main loading modes, therefore, the flexion stiffness is the most important quantity" (Shen et al. 2012).

and inertia. Modifications were made to the mass and stiffness of the beam elements to account for the effects of the shell.

The following measurements result from the simulation:

- Maximum chest wall deformation (mm),
- Impact Duration (ms),
- Delivered Energy (J),
- Maximum Lung Pressure (kPa),
- Maximum Rib Bending Moment (N-m), and
- Maximum Rib Stress (MPa).

B. Injury Prediction

For rib fracture, the injury criteria were developed using 30 high-speed impact tests on swine, and 16 low-speed impact tests from the literature on humans. Subject-specific finite element models (FEMs) were developed for the swine using CT images. The scaled ATBM torso model was used for the humans. Impactors for the swine testing were 53 or 76 g and impacts ranged from 32 to 52 m/s, while impactors for the human testing were 1,750 or 23,340 g, and ranged from 4.42 to 12.83 m/s.

Using these data, the peak values of displacement, velocity, bending moment, normal stress, moment rate, and stress rate were used to predict fracture. The normal stress metric was found to have the highest correlation with rib fracture (percent of correct predictions = 80%). There were limitations to the correlations when multiple ribs were fractured because the simulation did not actually implement fracture and the subsequent redistribution of stresses around the rib cage. Therefore, data involving multiple fractures were removed to develop the correlation, which resulted in a percent of correct predictions of 95%. The resulting logistic regression equation and curve is shown in Figure 4-2. For completeness, we include in Table 4-1 all the injuries modeled in the thorax and abdomen their associated response variables and regression equations as determined by the ATBM developers.

We note that normal stress of the rib was selected as the response variable for pneumothorax, just as for rib fracture, even though it did not produce the best fit according to the regression statistics. The developers note that it was selected "because the rib stress has been the most thoroughly verified and the limited data sample available [four cases of pneumothorax were observed in the data set] may bias the regression statistics" Shen et al. (2012). The relationship between rib fracture and pneumothorax must continue to be investigated.



Source: Shen et al. (2012, 80).

Figure 4-2. Regression Curves for Rib Fracture in ATBM Torso Model

Finally, we note that multiple rib fractures are modeled in ATBM; however, the regression equation is exactly the same as for single rib fracture. It remains unclear how the simulation continues after the first fracture (if it does at all). The load across unfractured ribs is theoretically increased following a single fracture, but the details of that fracture will significantly affect the redistribution of stress. Alternatively, it is possible that the model does not incorporate fracture but rather applies the threshold independently to multiple ribs, which, logically, would be an underestimate of multiple fracture probability.

C. Application of Significance Results in ATBM

The accuracy of the simulated measurement and the logistic regression are subject to question as detailed in Kramer, Macheret, and Teichman (2016), and the model likely requires further development, validation, and statistical error quantification. Nonetheless, the existing model demonstrates a capability to predict rib fracture and provides promise as a potential model for multiple rib fractures.

Based on the attributes associated with rib fracture, as described in this document, we conclude that with minimal further development, an FEM such as the ATBM torso model will be sufficient to model two of the four identified rib fracture types:

- Three or more simultaneously fractured ribs, and
- Bilateral rib fracture.

Effects/Injury Model	Response Variable	Regression Equations
Thorax		
Minor Lung Contusion	%Vhung	$\ln(p/1-p) = -10.6914 + 4.6384 \ln(\% V_{hmg})$
Moderate Lung Contusion	%V _{hung}	$\ln(p/1-p) = -18.3434 + 6.1216 \ln(\% V_{hmg})$
Severe Lung Contusion	%V _{hung}	$\ln(p/1-p) = -41.2662 + 12.1327 \ln(\% V_{hung})$
Single Rib Fracture	σnb	$\ln(p/1-p) = -15.449 + 0.0941\sigma_{nb}$
Multiple Rib Fracture	Gup	$\ln(p/1-p) = -15.449 + 0.0941\sigma_{nb}$
Pneumothorax	onb	$\ln(p/1-p) = -10.9084 + 0.0460\sigma_{nb}$
Ventricular Fibrillation	VC thorax	10.7
AIS>4	VC thorax	$\ln(p/1-p) = -1.49 + 3.19 \ln(VC_{max}^{chorax})$
Heart Lesions	VC thorax	$\ln(p/1-p) = -1.94 + 3.79 \ln(VC_{max}^{horax})$
Heart Rupture	VC	$\ln(p/1-p) = -2.65 + 4.40 \ln(VC_{max}^{thoras})$
Abdomen		
Mild Liver Laceration	%Viver	$\ln(p/1-p) = -11.9278 + 6.127 \ln(\%V_{liver})$
Moderate Liver Laceration	%Viiver	$\ln(p/1-p) = -9.4336 + 3.728 \ln(\% V_{liver})$
Severe Liver Laceration	%V _{liver}	$\ln(p/1-p) = -31.6093 + 9.120 \ln(\%V_{liver})$
Single Rib Fracture	σ _{nb}	$\ln(p/1-p) = -15.449 + 0.0941\sigma_{nb}$
Multiple Rib Fracture	σnb	$\ln(p/1-p) = -15.449 + 0.0941\sigma_{nb}$

Table 4-1. Injury Correlations for the Thorax and Abdomen as Implemented in ATBM

Source: Shen et al. (2012, 11).

At present, we conclude that existing models have no capability to model the remaining rib fracture types:

- Two or more fractures in a single rib, and
- Open rib fracture.

Due to the ongoing need for experimental validation of the existing models, we propose that experiments going forward are optimized to collect rib fracture prediction data and characterization of the fracture. Existing data (if x-rays were maintained) could also potentially be used for this purpose. It is essential to determine whether and under what conditions multiple fractures in a single rib or in open rib fractures can be produced. Following that (already necessary) experimentation (with slightly modified data collection procedures), one can weigh the value of the additional complexity of efforts to model these types of rib fractures. This page intentionally blank.

We conclude this document with a summary of our findings and recommendations.

A. Findings

Our findings are as follows:

- When estimating the significance of rib fractures, applying the reported data to our statistical framework proved challenging. Certain assumptions must be made regarding the available data before assessing rib fracture significance.
 - Most blunt-impact trauma data, including rib fracture data, are from motor vehicle accidents, falls, assaults, and industrial accidents (Sirmali et al. 2003, 135) and the mechanism of injury differs from blunt-impact NLWs (i.e., low mass/high velocity vs. high mass/low velocity). For our analysis, we treated all data the same, regardless of mechanism of injury.
 - Certain populations are more vulnerable to rib fractures than others, particularly the elderly (≥ 65 years of age) as a result of decreased bone density (Pressley et al. 2012, 911). Older patients with even a single fracture or those patients with cardiac and/or pulmonary conditions have greater susceptibility to complications than younger adults (Middleton et al. 2003, 30). For our analysis, we assume that every person is equally vulnerable to rib fractures, regardless of age and/or pre-existing cardiac and/or pulmonary conditions.
 - Children display greater vulnerability than adults to intrathoracic injuries via blunt trauma. Their chest walls are more pliant, which protects their ribs from fracture but allows for greater energy transfer to the intrathoracic organs and greater incidence of complications (hemothorax, pneumothorax, and lung contusion) (Sirmali et al. 2003, 136; Kessel et al. 2014, 834). Again, we assume that every person is equally vulnerable to rib fractures, regardless of age and/or pre-existing cardiac and/or pulmonary conditions.
 - The medical literature does not study rib fractures in isolation. When rib fractures are reported, clinicians and medical researchers rarely capture data on rib fractures in isolation, and the data that do exist rarely indicate the characteristic of the fracture (e.g., transverse, oblique, overriding, and so forth), how many fractures within one rib, location within the rib, or which rib. For our analysis, we break down the terms in our statistical framework

to explicitly consider the likelihood and consequence of each potential injury or complication, given that a particular rib fracture type occurs.

- The human thoracic region is composed of a large number of different soft and hard tissues, each with its own properties. The complexities required the analysis of a broad set of injuries and potential complications.
- Little is known about a rib fractures' contribution to chronic pain and long term disability (Gordy et al. 2014). Nor does the literature provide consistent association between fractures and chronic disability/pain.
- A study by Mayberry et al. concluded that patients with two or fewer fractures and no additional injuries and/or complications were able to return to work or usual activity sooner than patients with additional injuries and/or complications (Kerr-Valentic et al. 2003).

B. Recommendations

Based on our findings, our recommendations for NLW developers are as follows:

- Define the significance of rib fracture types, as illustrated in Figure 5-1.
- Classify the following rib fracture types as significant because the medical treatment for the injuries or the complications have HCC1+ standards of care:
 - Three or more simultaneously fractured ribs, or
 - Two or more simultaneous fractures within one rib, or
 - Bilateral rib fracture, or
 - Open rib fracture.
- Classify the following rib fractures as not significant because the literature suggests HCC0 standard of care, with low likelihood of permanent disability.
 - Closed rib fracture with one or two simultaneously fractured ribs, and
 - Each rib only fractured once, and
 - Not a bilateral fracture and not an open fracture.
- For future study of permanent injury, promote investigation of metrics which evaluate blunt force impact effects on long term pain, mobility, and lung capacity. This includes the Mayberry group's effort to determine rib fracture attributes which predict long term disability (see Appendices A and B to this document).

- Investigate whether existing models, such as Advanced Total Body Model (ATBM) may predict two of the rib fracture classes we identify as significant, which include:
 - Three or more simultaneously fractured ribs and
 - Bilateral rib fracture.



Legend for Figure 5-1

- ¹Lee et al. (1990, 689); Sirmali et al. (2003, 135); Karmy-Jones and Jurkovich (2004, 248); Sharma et al. (2008, 313); Shields et al. (2010, e117).
- ²U.S. Army Medical Department Center and School (n.d., 1-4).
- ³Easter (2001); Pressley et al. (2012); Chapman et al. (2016).
- ⁴Lafferty et al. (2011, 102); Aetna (2016).
- ⁵ Kerr-Valentic et al. (2003); Easter (2001); Middleton et al. (2003); Mayberry et al. (2009); Kouritas et al. 2013; Lube (2013); Fathi (2012)

Figure 5-1. Decision Flow Diagram: Classifying Rib Fractures as Significant Based on Rib Fracture Type

At present, we conclude that existing models have no capability to model the remaining *significant* rib fracture types:

- Two or more fractures in a single rib, and
- Open rib fracture.

Due to the ongoing need for experimental validation of the existing models, we recommend an optimization of future experiments to collect rib fracture prediction data and characterization of the fracture. Existing data (if x-rays were maintained) may support this purpose. This effort must predict the conditions under which multiple fractures in a single rib or in open rib fractures result. Given that experimentation to develop and validate the model is already necessary, additions to the testing should be made to gain understanding of the conditions that might cause the rib fracture attributes found to be significant in this report. In the event that multiple, bilateral, or open fractures are found to occur under expected weapon use conditions, a modeling capability with increased fidelity on fracture type must be pursued.

Appendix A. Chronic Pain from Rib Fracture

Rib Fracture Disability: Chronic Pain Studies

Chronic pain is now recognized as a major public health challenge (Institute of Medicine (IOM) 2011). Chronic pain is pain that continues when it should not, as in pain that lasts beyond the usual course of an acute injury and adversely affects the individual's well-being (American Chronic Pain Association 2016). Still, little is known about the specific contribution of rib fractures to chronic pain and disability (Gordy et al. 2014), Recent studies confirm a high incidence of chronic pain after *traumatic* rib injury, contrary to the traditional view that most rib fracture pain resolves within 6 to 8 weeks (Shelat et al. 2012; Fabricant et al. 2013).

Dr. John Mayberry from the Oregon Health & Science University led a series of studies to understand the baseline disability associated with rib fractures. One of the group's early exploratory studies followed 40 rib fracture patients, dividing them into groups according to number of fractures (two or fewer, three or more) and the presence/absence of associated injuries (Kerr-Valentic et al. 2003). Pain was self-assessed by patients at days 1, 5, 30, and 120 post-injury using the Wong-Baker FACES[®] Pain Rating Scale (Wong-Baker FACES Foundation 2016). Patients also reported the number of days missed from work and the ability to perform usual daily activities. There was no statistical difference between the levels of pain reported by each patient group at 120 days. Finally, the study concluded that patients with two or fewer fractures and no additional injuries and/or complications were able to return to work or usual activity sooner than patients with additional injuries and/or complications.

A later study followed 203 patients with rib fractures for six months (Gordy et al. 2014). For each patient, they recorded the total number of rib fractures, the bilaterality of rib fractures, the chest wall region where fractures were located, the presence of flail chest, the need for mechanical ventilation, and the use of pain control. During the study, patients were given the McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ) and the RAND-36 Health Survey. The MPQ is a validated tool designed to provide quantitative measurements of subjective pain using unique pain descriptors. (Hawker et al. 2011). The RAND SF-36 Health Survey is an extensively validated 36-item questionnaire that evaluates physical and mental variables. (Rand Corporation. 2016).

Gordy et al. (2014) had difficulty finding significant predictors of chronic pain or disability among the injury characteristics of rib fractures. Factors such as the number of fractured ribs or the presence of any complications were not predictive of chronic pain. The

severity of pain within the first 2 weeks was predictive of chronic pain. For the subset of patients with isolated rib fractures (89 patients), the prevalence of chronic pain was 28%, and the prevalence of chronic disability was 40%. Within this subset, bilaterality of rib fractures predicted chronic disability. We already proposed that bilateral fractures are a significant injury. These results are similar to the earlier retrospective study conducted by another group from Singapore (Shelat et al. 2012), where they surveyed 102 patients a year after injury and concluded that chronic pain was not related to age, number of ribs fractured, flail chest, hemothorax and/or pneumothorax, chest tube insertion, or Injury Severity Score (an anatomical scoring system that provides an overall score for patients with multiple injuries (see Trauma.org., n.d.)

Directly measuring pain is difficult, and experimental efforts such as using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Wagner et al. 2013) are most often subjective. No unified or industry-standard pain scale is in use, and over 20 different scales (e.g., the Wong-Baker FACES Pain Rating Scale or the MPQ) are used in different jurisdictions and contexts (Dvorsky 2013). Pain scales often heavily rely on patient self-reporting and are commonly 0–10 scales, such as the example shown in Table A-1. From this description, we see that a person is considered disabled and unable to function independently and likely unable to maintain a job at a pain level of 7/10.

Closed Rib Fracture not often associated with severe chronic pain

Although studies conclude that prolonged pain and the disability as a result of that pain are common, these studies only followed patients on the order of a few months to 1 year. Shelat et al.'s (2012) study interviewed patients after 1 year and found that 22.5% were still suffering from pain. However, it is unlikely that many of these patients were suffering a debilitating level of pain (i.e., close to 7/10). Kerr-Valentic et al. (2003) found a mean pain score of 1/10 at 120 days among the 40 patients in their study. Shelat et al. (2012) studied more than twice as many patients and found a median score of 3/10 at 1 year. Although the incidence of pain is high, we suggest that the level of pain that the patient might suffer throughout the rest of his or her life has sufficiently low probability of rating 7/10.

Comparative Pain Scale					
	0	No pain. Feeling perfectly normal.			
Minor Does not	1 Very Mild	Very light barely noticeable pain, like a mosquito bite or a poison ivy itch. Most of the time you never think about the pain.			
interfere with most activities. Able to adapt to pain	2 Discomforting	Minor pain, like lightly pinching the fold of skin between the thumb and first finger with the other hand, using the fingernails. Note that people react differently to this self- test.			
psychologically and with medication or devices such as cushions.	3 Tolerable	Very noticeable pain, like an accidental cut, a blow to the nose causing a bloody nose, or a doctor giving you an injection. The pain is not so strong that you cannot get used to it. Eventually, most of the time you don't notice the pain. You have <i>adapted</i> to it.			
Moderate Interferes with many activities. Requires lifestyle changes but patient remains independent.	4 Distressing	Strong, deep pain, like an average toothache, the initial pain from a bee sting, or minor trauma to part of the body, such as stubbing your toe real hard. So strong you notice the pain all the time and <i>cannot completely adapt</i> . This pain level can be simulated by pinching the fold of skin between the thumb and first finger with the other hand, using the fingernails, and squeezing real hard. Note how the simulated pain is initially piercing but becomes dull after that.			
	5 Very Distressing	Strong, deep, piercing pain, such as a sprained ankle when you stand on it wrong or mild back pain. Not only do you notice the pain all the time, you are now so preoccupied with managing it that you normal lifestyle is curtailed. Temporary personality disorders are frequent.			
Unable to adapt to pain.	6 Intense	Strong, deep, piercing pain so strong it seems to partially dominate your senses, causing you to think somewhat unclearly. At this point you begin to have trouble holding a job or maintaining normal social relationships. Comparable to a bad non-migraine headache combined with several bee stings, or a bad back pain.			
Savara	7 Very Intense	Same as 6 except the pain completely dominates your senses, causing you to think unclearly about half the time. At this point you are effectively disabled and frequently cannot live alone. Comparable to an average migraine headache.			
Severe Unable to engage in normal activities. Patient is disabled and unable to function independently.	8 Utterly Horrible	Pain so intense you can no longer think clearly at all, and have often undergone severe personality change if the pain has been present for a long time. Suicide is frequently contemplated and sometimes tried. Comparable to childbirth or a real bad migraine headache.			
	9 Excruciating Unbearable	Pain so intense you cannot tolerate it and demand pain killers or surgery, no matter what the side effects or risk. If this doesn't work, suicide is frequent since there is no more joy in life whatsoever. Comparable to throat cancer.			
independentity.	10 Unimaginable Unspeakable	Pain so intense you will go unconscious shortly. Most people have never experienced this level of pain. Those who have suffered a severe accident, such as a crushed hand, and lost consciousness as a result of the pain and not blood loss, have experienced level 10.			

Source: (Rich 2008).

This page intentionally blank.

Appendix B. Rib Fracture Disability and Surrogates for Chronic Pain

The literature lacks reliable methods to objectively quantify an individual's experience of pain (Younger, McCue, and Mackey 2009). Clinicians are taught that rib fracture pain and disability resolves in 6 to 8 weeks. However, recent studies conclude that prolonged pain is common and that the contribution of rib fractures to disability is greater than previously expected (Fabricant et al. 2013).

At present, few standards exist for grading disability or quality of life after rib injury. Our framework in Chapter 3 evaluates risks associated with long-term pain, providing clinical data to support the case that severe long term chronic pain from rib fractures where HCC0 treatment is the standard of care presents a low risk. However, conversations with the Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate (JNLWD) note that modeling, predicting, and evaluating pain experienced by a human subject presents challenges. In this appendix, we discuss how existing disability rating systems may accommodate evaluation of rib fracture disability and propose surrogates for chronic pain disability that may, in the future, provide more objective measures of pain—namely, moving and breathing.

U.S. Military

DoDI 6130.03 (DoD 2010) establishes medical standards for new recruits in the military Services. This instruction does not provide information on rib injuries other than that current symptomatic cervical ribs are a disqualifying condition. Fractures are a disqualifying condition in cases where a malunion or nonunion of a fracture or current retained hardware (including plates, pins, rods, wires, or screws) used for fixation is symptomatic or interferes with the proper wearing of equipment or a military uniform. Nonunion is "failure of normal healing of a fractured bone" (Stedman 2012, 1167). Malunion is "faulty union of the ends of a broken bone resulting in a deformity" (Stedman 2012, 1011). Additional disqualifying conditions include a bone contusion or history of bone contusions of more than a minor nature that interferes with the performance of duty and that occurred in the preceding 6 months and has not recovered. Several complications of rib fractures are also considered disqualifying conditions, including the following:

• Non-specific abnormal findings on radiological and other examinations of body structure, such as the lungs or other thoracic or abdominal organs;

- Current or history of recurrent acute pneumonia;
- Current or history of pneumothorax occurring in the year preceding an examination if due to trauma; and
- Unexplained ongoing or recurring cardiopulmonary symptoms that impair a physically active lifestyle.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (DVA)

The VASRD details requirements for assigning a rating between 0% and 100% to a veteran's conditions (DVA 1992). This assignment of a rating is done to reflect the degree to which a condition impairs a veteran's ability to work (CBO 2014). Ratings are given for rib conditions only if the ribs or part of them have been removed (DVA 2015). We consider the removal of ribs to constitute a significant injury since this requires a greater than HCC1 level of care (i.e., surgery).

For all other rib bone injuries or conditions, the condition is rated analogously with a condition that is found in the VASRD (Military Disability Made Easy 2013a). That is, the rib condition is rated as another condition that most closely describes the main symptoms or that has the same treatments as the rib condition. The most common symptom of rib fracture is mild to severe pain that typically worsens when moving (e.g., bending, twisting, or reaching) or when breathing (Mayo Clinic 2016). Below, we consider how VASRD ratings might evaluate long term pain or disability associated with rib fractures, by considering range of motion and lung function.

A rib fracture would likely limit how much a person can move his or her torso without intense pain. An analogous VASRD rating for this type of motion could be the ratings for limited ROM of the thoracolumbar (thoracic + lumbar) spine.

Ratings of ROM in the thoracolumbar spine are based on goniometer measurements. A goniometer is essentially a protractor, such as the type shown in Figure B-1. Six different measurements—left rotation, right rotation, flexion, extension, right lateral flexion, and left lateral flexion—are required to rate ROM in the thoracolumbar spine areas, as shown in Figure B-2. To get the combined ROM for rating purposes, all six measurements are added together. The normal combined measurements for the thoracolumbar spine is 240°. All measurements are rounded to the nearest 5°.



(a)

(b)

Source: (a) Manchester-Bedford Myoskeletal (2016); (b) United Health Supply (2016). Note for Figure B-1: (a) Goniometer; (b) Measurement of lateral flexion.







Table B-1 displays the VASRD rating the thoracolumbar spine (Military Disability Made Easy. 2013c). For any condition that is rated primarily on limited motion, if pain is present with motion, the patient will get at least the lowest compensable rating regardless of the goniometer measurement. For example, if a person's flexion measures more than 90° but the motion is painful, this person would receive a 10% rating instead of the 0% shown in Table B-1.

Rating	ROM Thoracolumbar Spine
50%	Entire thoracolumbar spine frozen in an unfavorable position
40%	Flexion measures 30° or less
	OR Entire thoracolumbar spine frozen in an unfavorable position
20%	Flexion measures more than 30° but not more than 60°
	OR Combined ROM is 120° or less
10%	Flexion measures more than 60° but less than 90°
	OR Combined ROM is between 125° and 240°
0%	Flexion measures 90° or more
	OR Combined ROM measures 240° or more

Table B-1. VASRD for Thoracolumbar Spine

Source: Military Disability Made Easy. 2013c.

To rate how well a person can breathe, the VASRD relies on a set of tests called spirometry, which measures the functioning of the lungs, including how well the lungs take in air and exhale the left over gases (DVA 2006; Military Disability Made Easy 2013b). The spirometry measurements include forced vital capacity (FVC), which is the maximum volume of air that a person can exhale after taking a full breath; forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV-1), which is the maximum volume of air that a person can exhale after taking a full breath; forced expiratory volume in 1 second; and the ratio of FEV-1 to FVC. The FVC and FEV-1 measurements are noted as a volume and as a percentage of the predicted values for an average healthy person of the same age, height, ethnicity, and sex. Predicted values for FVC and FEV-1 are can be found in reference tables, such as those found on the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) website for African-American, Caucasian, and Mexican-American men and women (The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health 2015). An excerpt from the reference table for predicted values of FEV-1 for Caucasian males is shown in Table B-2. In this table, we see, for example, that for a 25 year old Caucasian male 170 cm tall, FEV-1 is predicted to be 4.19 L (see red box in Table B-2).

	Age (Years)												
Height (cm)	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32
147	3.27	3.25	3.23	3.21	3.19	3.17	3.14	3.12	3.10	3.08	Contract of the Contract		3.01
148	3.31	3.29	3.27	3.25	3.23	3.21	3.19	3.16	3.14	3.12	3.10	3.07	3.05
149	3.35		3.31	3.29	Contraction of the local division of the	3.25	3.23	3.21	3.18	3.16	3.14	3.11	3.09
150	3.40	3.38	3.36			3.29	3.27			3.20			3.13
151	3.44	3.42	3.40	3.38	3.36	3.33	3.31	3.29	3.27	3.25	3.22		
152	3.48	3.46	3.44	3.42	3.40	3.38	3.36	3.33	3.31	3.29	3.27	3.24	3.22
153	3.52	3.50	3.48	3.46	3.44	3.42	3.40	3.38	3.35	3.33	3.31	3.28	3.26
154	3.57	3.55	3.53	3.51	3.49	3.46	3.44	3.42	3.40	3.37	3.35	3.33	3.30
155	3.61	3.59	3.57	3.55	3.53	3.51	3.49	3.46	3.44	3.42	3.39	3.37	3.35
156	3.66	3.64	3.61	3.59	3.57	3.55	3.53	3.51			3.44	3.42	3.39
157	3.70	3.68	3.66	3.64	3.62	3.60	3.57	3.55	3.53	3.51	3.48	3.46	3.44
158	3.74	3.72	3.70	3.68	3.66	3.64	3.62	3.60	3.57	3.55	3.53	3.50	3.48
159	3.79	3.77	3.75	3.73	3.71	3.68	3.66	3.64	3.62	3.60	3.57	3.55	3.52
160	3.83	3.81	3.79	3.77	3.75	3.73		3.69	3.66	3.64	3.62	3.59	3.57
161	3.88	3.86	3.84	3.82	3.80	3.77	3.75	3.73	3.71	3.69	3.66	3.64	3.61
162	3.92	3.90	3.88	3.86	3.84	3.82	3.80	3.78	3.75	3.73	3.71	3.68	3.66
163	3.97	3.95	3.93	3.91	3.89	3.87	3.84	3.82	3.80	3.78	3.75	3.73	3.71
164	4.02	4.00	3.98	3.95	3.93	3.91	3.89	3.87	3.85	3.82	3.80	3.78	3.75
165	4.06	4.04	4.02	4.00	3.98	3.96	3.94	3.91	3.89	3.87	3.85	3.82	3.80
166	4.11	4.09	4.07	4.05	4.03	4.01	3.98	3.96	3.94	3.92	3.89	3.87	3.85
167	4.16	4.14	4.12	4.09	4.07	4.05	4.03	4.01	3.99	3.96	3.94	3.92	3.89
168	4.20	4.18	4.16	4.14	4.12	4.10	4.08	4.06	4.03	4.01	3.99	3.96	3.94
169	4.25	4.23	4.21	4.19	4.17	4.15	4.13	4.10	4.08	4.06	4.03	4.01	3.99
170	4.30	4.28	4.26	4.24	4.22	4.19	4.17	4.15	4.13	4.11	4.08	4.06	4.03
171	4.35	4.33	4.31	4.29	4.26	4.24	4.22	4.20	4.18	4.15	4.13	4.11	4.08
172	4.39	4.37	4.35	4.33	4.31	4.29	4.27	4.25	4.22	4.20	4.18	4.16	4.13
173	4.44	4.42	4.40	4.38	4.36	4.34	4.32	4.30	4.27	4.25	4.23	4.20	4.18
174	4.49	4.47	4.45	4.43	4.41	4.39	4.37	4.34	4.32	4.30	4.28	4.25	4.23
175	4.54	4.52	4.50	4.48			4.42	4.39	4.37	4.35	4.33	4.30	4.28
176	4.59	4.57	4.55	4.53	4.51	4.49	4.47	4.44	4.42	4.40	4.37	4.35	4.33

Table B-2. FEV-1 Predicted Values in Liters for Male Caucasian

Source: Taken from Centers for Disease Control, "FEV1 Predicted Values: Male Caucacsian," (n.d., 1 of 2).

Table B-3 shows the VASRD ratings for lung function. If our example 25-year-old, 170-cm tall Caucasian male's spirometry measurement resulted in a measurement of, say, FEV-1 = 2.51 L, then 2.51 L \div 4.19 L = 0.60, meaning that the FEV-1 measurement for this 25-year-old male is 60% of the predicted value. This male's disability rating would be 30% according to Table B-3.

Measurement	Result	Rating
FEV-1	Less than 40%	100%
FEV-1	40%–55%	60%
FEV-1	56%–70%	30%
FEV-1	71%–80%	10%
FEV-1/FVC	Less than 40%	100%
FEV-1/FVC	40%–55%	60%
FEV-1/FVC	56%–70%	30%
FEV-1/FVC	71%–80%	10%

Source: Military Disability Made Easy. 2013b.

Surrogates for Evaluating Pain

ROM as a Predictive Attribute of Significant Injury

Instead of attempting to measure pain directly, one may quantify the disability resulting from that pain by measuring how much the pain restricts a person's ROM. We discussed the VASRD ratings for ROM of thoracolumbar spine—essentially motion of the trunk—earlier in this appendix (see subsection "U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (DVA)"), but the ratings do not give us a direct idea of how much person's ability to perform work or other necessary life functions might be limited at any particular disability rating. For this information, we looked at studies reported in the medical literature that attempt to correlate ROM with functional ability. Although this relationship is not well defined, these studies conclude that most individuals use only a relatively small percentage of their full active ROM of the spine when performing activities (Bible et al. 2010).

Note that the goniometer measurements, such as those pictured in Figure B-2, do not isolate movements of the thoracic spine from the lumbar spine; rather, they evaluate the ROM of the entire region. Measurements of the neck area or the cervical spine generally are evaluated in isolation from the rest of the spine and are rated separately in the VASRD. However, we assume that pain from rib fracture would more critically affect the trunk (thoracolumbar) than the neck (cervical). Unfortunately though, compared to both the cervical and the lumbar areas, far less information exists about the thoracic spine since comparatively fewer spinal disorders are isolated to this region. (Fujimori et al. 2014; Lake et al., n.d.). Furthermore, when considering motion of the thoracolumbar spine area (see Figure B-2), the thoracic spine contributes much less to this motion than the lumbar spine. In the studies measuring functional ROM we found that since subjects performed activities as they normally would, they were not forced to move the lumbar spine in isolation. We

assume here, then, that we can make at least a loose comparison between the results of these studies and the VASRD measurements for rating the thoracolumbar spine.

Cobian et al. (2013) recorded spine motions while 10 healthy young adults performed 16 common activities of daily living (ADLs). They observed that the maximum active ROM required to complete most of the ADLs was only 40 to 60% of the available lumbar ROM The ADLs studied and the average ROM required to perform each ADL are reproduced in Table B-4. Subjects generally used less than 30% of the available ROM to complete most of the ADLs listed. Only four activities required lumbar movement greater than 40% of the available ROM: putting on pants, putting on a jacket, picking up an object from the floor, and twisting with an object. From the VASRD ratings from Table B-1, a person with lumbar spine ROM limited to only 40% of maximum (which would be 96° combined ROM) would be considered 20% disabled but would still be able to perform most of the ADLs listed in Table B-4.

Activity	Lumbar Flexion-Extension (%)	Lumbar Lateral Bending (%)	Axial Rotation (%)
Sit to stand	37	13	13
Pick up from floor	73	28	24
Twisting with an object	12	20	72
Walk	14	21	18
Putting on pants	47	26	23
Tying shoes	38	21	19
Shower	34	32	23
Putting on jacket	19	30	46
Clearing table	37	19	19
Backing up car	15	17	31
Reaching to shelf	17	24	27
Writing	14	13	14
Looking for traffic	18	21	20
Phone	14	23	14
Taking a drink	12		11
Brushing teeth			

Table B-4. Average ROM During Each ADL Expressed as a Percentage of the Maximum Available ROM

When evaluating chronic pain associated with rib fractures, future studies should consider evaluating the point upon which range of motion is retarded by 30% or more.

Breathing as a Predictive Attribute of Significant Injury

The VASRD ratings for lung function do not give an idea about how limited lung function might restrict a person's life. For this information, we look to severity ratings for

those conditions for which spirometry is used to rate the patient's quality of life, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (CPOD) and asthma. COPD is a general term that describes airflow obstruction due to chronic bronchitis and/or emphysema. COPD and asthma are ranked as mild, moderate, or severe based on forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV-1) and FEV-1/FVC measurements.²³ The standard guidelines for ranking severity of both asthma and COPD are shown in Table B-5 and Table B-6.

Table B-5. Classifying Asthma Severity in Adults and Youths More Than 12 Years of Age

		Persistent			
Severity	Intermittent	Mild	Moderate	Severe	
Lung function	FEV-1 > 80% FEV-1/FVC ≥ 80%	FEV-1 > 80% FEV-1/FVC ≥ 80%	60% < FEV-1 < 80% FEV-1/FVC	FEV-1 < 60% FEV-1/FVC	
Interference with normal	None	Minor limitation	reduced 5% Some limitation	reduced >5% Extremely limited	
activity					

Source: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (2007).

Table B-6.	Classification	of Airflow	Limitation	Severity in	
	olussilloution		Linnation	OCTOINTY II	

Severity	I: Mild	II: Moderate	III: Severe	IV: Very Severe
Lung function	FEV-1 ≥ 80% FEV-1/FVC < 70%	50% ≤ FEV-1 < 80% FEV-1/FVC < 70%	30% ≤ FEV-1 < 50% FEV-1/FVC < 70%	FEV-1 < 30% OR FEV-1 < 50% + chronic respiratory failure FEV-1/FVC < 70%
Interference with normal activity	May not have symptoms	Symptoms such as shortness of breath are more severe and most seek treatment	Shortness of breath is evident, may notice a decrease in activity tolerance and fatigue more quickly than usual	Life-threatening; quality of life is greatly impaired

Source: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease[™] (2017).

If a rib fracture permanently affects an individual's ability to breathe, we can determine the significance of that rib fracture based on guidelines from Table B-5 and Table B-6, combined with the VASRD ratings from lung function in Table B-3. For given FEV-1 measurements, Table B-7 compares VASRD to severity of asthma and limitation of airflow from COPD.

²³ FVC = forced vital capacity. The latest guidance takes other factors into account when assessing COPD, such as exacerbation history and symptoms displayed; however, we are concerned only with ranking severity of lung function.

FEV-1	VASRD	Asthma Severity	COPD Airflow Limitation Severity	Suggested Significance of Rib Fracture for Given Lung Function Limitation
>80%	0%	Mild	Mild	
71%–80%	10%	Moderate	Moderate	Not significant
60%–70%	30%	Moderate	Moderate	Not significant
56%–59%	30%	Severe	Moderate	
50%–55%	60%	Severe	Moderate	Significant
40%–49%	60%	Severe	Severe	Significant

Table B-7. Determining the Significance ofRib Fracture Based on Lung Function Limitation

Note for Table B-7: The red line signifies our suggestion for determining significance of rib fracture based on permanent limitation to lung function.

We first propose that any closed rib fracture that results in chronic pain limiting lung function to FEV-1 < 56% and FEV-1/FVC < 70% should be considered significant.

When evaluating chronic pain associated with rib fractures, future studies should consider evaluating the point upon which FEV-1 and FEV-1/FVC approach these thresholds as a surrogate for evaluating pain. This page intentionally blank.

Appendix C. Additional Rib Fracture Research

Rib Fractures: Attributes Evaluated for Significance, but Not Included in the Decision Flow Diagram

We now address rib fracture attributes evaluated for significance but omitted from the decision flow diagram for lack of substantive data, the attribute was too difficult to model, and/or the co-injuries or complications were assessed as non-causal.

Vital Capacity (VC)

A number of methodologies are available to determine pulmonary function (Culver 2012). The major method to determine lung capacity is to measure lung volume by spirometry. Spirometry measures the rate and volume of respired gases by an individual and is used to determine whether a patient has airway blockages or other lung function abnormalities (Stedman 2012). The spirometer is a simple gasometer that measures volumes through the production of a spirogram. A patient blows with maximal effort¹ into the spirometer through a tube to measure a variety of lung volume variables that clinicians use to assess lung function (Culver 2012) (see Figure C-1).

¹ Called the forced expiratory volume (FEV) maneuver.



Source: Adapted from information in Culver (2012, 21).

Note for Figure C-1: The spirogram (left) shows two cycles of quiet respiration, followed by a forced expiratory volume maneuver. The spirogram then concludes with a single cycle of quiet respiration. It can be seen that the tidal volume (V_T) and VC (right) can be easily measured from this test.

Figure C-1. The Spirogram and the Lung Volumes of Interest to Clinicians

Under normal conditions (quiet respiration), the volume of air inspired or exhaled is a small fraction of the total air capacity of the lungs and is known as the tidal volume (see Figure C-1). Using a spirometer and the forced expiratory volume (FEV) maneuver, a measurement of a patient's maximum amount of air that can be inhaled or exhaled can be measured. That volume is called the VC (vital capacity). Other volumes such as the reserve inspiratory and expiratory air volumes can be determined from this method when the VC and the tidal volume are known. However, the total lung capacity (TLC) and the dead volume of air that cannot be expelled (called the residual volume (RV)) cannot be measured with this method. Spirometric procedures using inert gases (e.g., helium) are used to measure RV and TLC. Values of these volumes and the rates over certain time periods can be used to determine ventilatory impairment (Culver 2012). These pulmonary function values are also affected by characteristics of the individual patient (e.g., age or weight). Several of these values are therefore reported per weight of the individual.

Failure to stabilize the chest wall, as in the case of a traumatic injury, can be an indication that mechanical ventilation is needed. The clinician's decision to ventilate such a patient can be made based on spirometry measurement and is based upon the fact that many pulmonary abnormalities are determined from VC or calculated values based on VC (Culver 2012). A patient's VC of less than 10 ml/kg of body weight has been cited as an indication of the need for mechanical ventilation (Goldsworthy and Graham 2014). Mechanical ventilation can also be warranted if gas exchange is compromised. Gas exchange is typically monitored by measuring the oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations in peripheral blood by pulse oximetry.

In the earliest stages of this study, we thought that vital capacity would be a suitable attribute to assess rib fracture significance. If a rib fracture patient's VC is less than 10 ml/kg of body weight, the medical treatment is mechanical ventilation, which is an HCC index of 1 or higher (HCC1+) standard of care. However, this attribute is too difficult to model. It is also unclear whether rib fracture types that have a VC less than 10 ml/kg of body weight can be consistently binned into the same type.

Location of Fracture within Any One Rib

To our knowledge, no data in the medical literature indicate the significance of fracture location within any one rib. In addition, the International Classification of Disease Codes, 9th revision (ICD-9) and International Classification of Disease Codes, 10th revision (ICD-10) do not capture the characteristic of the break, including fracture location within any one rib.

The only paper that possibly alludes to significance of rib fracture location is Chapman et al. (2016), and it is in the context of multiple fractures within the same rib. Chapman et al.'s RibScore includes "one fracture in each of three anatomic areas (anterior, lateral, and posterior)"² as a risk factor to predict pulmonary complications and cites one journal article to support its inclusion³ (Chapman et al. 2016, 97). Based on our decision flow diagram, fractures of this type would already be significant because they would be categorized as "two or more simultaneous fractures within any one rib."

Location: Fracture of the First and/or Second Rib

It has been a long-established belief that a fracture of rib 1 is an indicator of severe trauma (Richardson, McElvein, and Trinkle 1975, 251; Easter 2001, 321). Because rib 1 is protected by the clavicle, shoulder girdle, and musculature, it usually requires tremendous force to break. Because rib 1 is so well protected by these anatomical features, a fracture of rib 1 rarely occurs. When a fracture does occur, there may be injury to the "subclavian vein and artery, brachial plexus, apex of the lung, aortic arch, esophagus, and trachea." (Sclafani et al. 2014, 1027)

² Chapman et al. obtained Denver Health Medical Center trauma registry data for rib fracture patients. These data also included computed tomography (CT) as part of the initial emergency department diagnostic evaluation. Including CT is how it was possible to determine anatomic area fractures (Chapman et al. 2016, 96).

³ The paper is Livingston et al. (2008).

Blunt cardiac injury (BCI) is an infrequent but potentially fatal injury that can occur in thoracic trauma patients (Joseph et al. 2016). The prevailing clinical assessment is that rib injuries—in particular, rib 1 and rib 2 fractures—are markers for BCI and great vessel injuries. However, this idea remains controversial. Studies have shown that rib fractures are not good predictors of fatal BCI in thoracic trauma patients (Joseph et al. 2016). Thoracic vascular injuries have been found to be associated with rib fractures in thoracic trauma patients, but rib fractures are not particularly suitable markers for great vessel or other vascular injuries (Woodring et al. 1982; Sakellaridis et al. 2004). In many clinicians' opinions, the assessment of thoracic vascular injury is not indicated for patients with first and second rib fractures alone. Other supporting information is needed for an indication of vascular injury (Gupta, Jamshidi, and Rubin 1997).

The correlation of rib 1 and rib 2 fractures to lung, esophagus, and trachea damage has not been adequately established, and the correlation to BCI and great vessel injury remains controversial. The complications that could occur to an organ or major vessel would require surgical intervention (HCC1+), but, since it is questionable that the complications are causal, first and/or second rib fracture is not included as a rib fracture type in the decision flow diagram.

Location: Fifth through Twelfth Rib Fractures

Patients with fractures in the rib 5–12 region have an increased likelihood of abdominal solid organ injuries (ASOIs), but it is difficult to determine whether these injuries are caused by the fractured rib(s) or the blunt trauma. The liver, spleen, and kidneys are generally regarded as organs in the abdomen, but they are subject to injury with thoracic trauma, including fractured ribs (Sirmali et al. 2003; Sharma et al. 2008). These organs are positioned within the body cavity such that they are close to the lower ribs.

Rostas et al., in a recent systematic chart review study, suggest that rib fracture in both the middle (ribs 5–8) and lower (ribs 9–12) rib sections are a better overall predictor of ASOI (Rostas et al. 2016, 7). Earlier retrospective studies have shown that fractures of the lower ribs (9–12) correlate with ASOI in thoracic trauma patients (Al-Hassani et al. 2010). Existing Advanced Trauma Life Support (ATLS) guidelines also support the notion that ribs 9–12 are indicators of ASOI, but the incidence of fractures in this region are low (Rostas et al. 2016, 2). However, these studies do not correlate a specific fractured rib (i.e., rib number) to a specific abdominal organ, the characteristics of the breaks are unknown, and it is difficult to determine whether the ASOI is caused by the fractured rib or the blunt trauma.

The incidence of ASOI in patients who also have a fractured rib has been reported to be $\sim 10\%$ -16% (Rostas et al. 2016, 2), and ASOIs will require surgical intervention (HCC1+). However, in the absence of other quantitative data that links ASOI to the rib fracture region, we cannot say with any certainty that ASOIs are causal complications.
Assessing all fractures within the 5–12 rib region as significant would underestimate the non-significant, simple rib fractures that require an HCC0 standard of care and also fall within this location. Because we do not know the characteristic of the break, we are going to assume that any ASOI caused by a fractured rib in the rib 5–12 region is accounted for in previous "significant" rib fracture types of our RSI rib fracture framework (i.e., three or more simultaneously fractured ribs, two or more simultaneous fractures within any one rib, bilateral fracture, or open fracture). Therefore, since it is questionable that ASOI complications are causal, "rib(s) fractured within the rib 5–12 region" is not included as a rib fracture type in the decision flow diagram.

Closed Rib Fracture That Is Overriding

A closed rib fracture that is overriding is one in which one fragment of the fractured rib is positioned so that it overlaps with the other rib fragment, but both fragments do not break the skin (Hansen 2014, 92). To our knowledge, no studies address the medical treatment of closed, overriding rib fractures. Anatomy books do describe characteristics of a closed fracture, but the medical literature does not provide this level of detail. ICD-9 and ICD-10 codes specify number of fractured ribs, the location (right side or left side of thorax) and whether the fractured ribs are open or closed but do not capture characteristics of the fracture (ICD10Data.com 2017). A small percentage of fractured ribs fail to heal properly, resulting in nonunion or malunion (Lafferty et al. 2011, 98 and 102). Nonunion is "failure of normal healing of a fractured bone" (Stedman 2012, 1167). Malunion is "faulty union of the ends of a broken bone resulting in a deformity" (Stedman 2012, 1011). Logically, we believe that a fracture that includes a displacement (e.g., a closed rib fracture that is overriding) could lead to complications such as nonunion or malunion, but no studies support our assumption. Therefore, since we do not have data that support our conclusion that closed rib fracture that is overriding could lead to complications such as nonunion and malunion, "closed rib fracture, overriding" is not included as a separate rib fracture type in the decision flow diagram. However, it is included as a subtype of "closed rib fracture" discussed in Chapter 3.

This page intentionally blank.

Appendix D. Blunt-Impact NLW Background Information

Blunt-Impact NLWs: Mechanism of Injury and the Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate's (JNLWD) Current and Developing Portfolio

The severity of injuries resulting from blunt force impact is dependent on the impulse delivered and the tissue to which the energy is transferred. The kinetic energy of a moving object is equal to one half the mass of that object multiplied by the velocity of the object squared ($\frac{1}{2}$ mv²). In general, a lighter object traveling at high speed can potentially cause more damage than a heavier object traveling at a slower speed (Batalis 2016). Blunt force impact during motor vehicle accidents is the most common mechanism of injury for rib fractures in adults (Melendez 2016). The research and clinical data for blunt thoracic impacts in high-mass and low-impact speed scenarios is extensive. In contrast, the data for blunt thoracic impacts in low-mass and high-velocity impacts scenarios are limited. These conditions might occur in sports such as baseball or hockey and might also occur with a number of non-lethal kinetic weapons. Figure D-1 depicts the distinction between these two blunt impact scenarios.



Source: Bir (2000, 2 (Figure 1.1)).

Note for Figure D-1: Region of low-mass, high-velocity projectiles or blunt ballistic impacts involve impact velocities of 20–250 m/s and mass of 20–200 g.

Figure D-1. Blunt Impact as a Function of Velocity vs. Mass of the Projectile

Table D-1 summarizes JNLWD's portfolio of current and developing non-lethal kinetic weapon projectiles. Although the parameters on this list of projectiles vary, the mass and impact velocity of each projectile place the projectiles into the region of blunt ballistic impacts as displayed in Figure D-1. For existing weapons, projectile parameters such as mass, stiffness, aim angle, or impact velocity can be directly or statistically measured with high accuracy. Predicting the type and extent of injury once any of these projectiles impacts a target's thoracic region, however, is a challenge for several reasons. First, as discussed in Chapter 2, the human thoracic region is composed of a large number of different soft and hard tissues, each with its own properties. Understanding thoracic region tissue deformation and the mechanisms of energy transfer between tissue boundaries is exceedingly complicated. In addition, not only might body parameters such as overall body size or thickness of a fat layer vary from target to target, but characteristics such as posture or type of clothing worn might also vary. Finally, the location and likelihood of bone fracture under impact conditions are often dominated by the presence of defects in the bone, which have not been statistically quantified across the target population.

Round	Delivery	Payload	Projectile				
12-gauge munitions	12-gauge shotgun	Stingball rounds, fin stabilized rounds, and sock rounds					
40mm munitions	M203 grenade launcher	Sponge rounds, foam rubber baton rounds, and crowd dispersal cartridges	LOR FRANCE DE LOR DE LO				
66mm Light Vehicle Obscurant Smoke System and Vehicle- Launched Non-Lethal Grenades	Same	Smoke, flash bang effects, riot-control agent munitions, and blunt trauma.					

Table D-1. JNLWD's Portfolio of Current and Developing Non-Lethal Kinetic Weapon Projectiles

Developing Non-Lethal Kinetic Weapon Projecties (Continued)								
FN-303 [®] Less Lethal Launching System	Same	Training/blunt impact, marking (washable- pink, permanent- yellow), and Oleoresin Capsicum liquid						
Modular crowd control munition (MCCM)	Same (pre- emplaced)	Six hundred 0.32 caliber rubber balls to suppress targets	BACX NONLETHAL MICON					
Stingball grenade	Hand thrown or fired out of a 12-gauge launch cup	One hundred 0.25 caliber rubber pellets propelled from grenade after explosion	Non-Lethal					
XM1116 12-Gauge Non-Lethal Extended Range Marking Munition	12-gauge shotgun	Under development						
Human Electro- Muscular Incapacitation (HEMI) projectile	M203 or M320 grenade launcher	HEMI device						

Table D-1. JNLWD's Portfolio of Current and Developing Non-Lethal Kinetic Weapon Projectiles (Continued)

Source: DoD (n.d.).

For practical and ethical reasons, experiments to statistically determine the response of the thorax to blunt impact from a variety of projectiles would be extremely difficult to conduct. Thus, injury data are limited to incident reports after field-use and medical case studies. In support of Fiscal Year (FY) 2015 tasking by the Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Program (JNLWP), IDA surveyed the literature and found that definitive conclusions on the type and rate of expected injuries from non-lethal kinetic weapon projectiles could not be made (Kramer, Macheret, and Teichman 2016). However, the data can reveal types of injuries that actually do most commonly occur. Kramer Macheret, and Teichman (2016) summarized field-use data from two studies to determine the types of injuries most likely to be reported after non-lethal blunt-impact weapon use. A 2013 study conducted by Penn State University and funded by the JNLWP analyzed records maintained by the Los Angeles Sheriff's Department (LASD) detailing 1,398 non-lethal bunt impact weapon uses, including the Stinger (37 mm round containing 0.32 caliber rubber balls), flash-bang, Sting-ball grenades, and 12-gauge beanbag (Kenny and Bovbjerg 2013). A 2004 study conducted by the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) (Hubbs and Klinger 2004) analyzed 373 cases that reported 979 blunt-impact munitions fired, including 37mm plastic batons, 12-gauge bean-bag, 12-gauge "super-sock", and 40mm "eXact iMpactTM" rounds. The two studies reported over 600 injuries, with over one-third of those injuries in each study occurring in the chest/back region. The most common injuries, however, were those injuries likely to be insignificant (e.g., bruises and abrasions). Fractures, in general, were only a small percentage of the reported injuries—1.5% (Kenny and Bovbjerg 2013) and 3.9% (Hubbs and Klinger 2004)—with only ~1% of the injuries reported by Hubbs and Klinger being fractures in the chest area.

Field-use data report only those injuries that were most apparent at the time that the NLW was used. These data do not reveal serious complications that may develop in the days following trauma. For example, Misthos et al. (2004) and Plourde et al. (2014) reported that blunt thoracic trauma that included at least one rib fracture is a significant risk factor for delayed pneumothorax and hemothorax.¹ The medical case studies that we reviewed provided a more detailed picture of the injuries that occurred than the field-use reports did (see Section 2.B). Given that the patients in the case studies have sought or received some level of medical care, these studies are obviously biased toward reporting the more serious injuries.

Injuries from rubber and plastic bullets, one of the oldest non-lethal kinetic weapons, dominate the medical case studies. "Rubber bullet" is a generic term used to describe a large number of projectiles ranging from steel spheres or cylinders covered in a layer of rubber to small rubber pellets used in buckshot rounds. Direct-fire rubber bullets were first used in 1970 by British forces in Northern Ireland (Millar et al. 1975). Because of the severity of injuries caused by rubber bullets, they have largely been replaced by plastic rounds, which can be shot more accurately and have less potential for injury (Rocke 1983) Case studies reporting injuries from the more modern projectiles in JNLWD's portfolio are rare.

¹ The type and characteristic of the one fractured rib is unclear in Plourde et al. and Mithos et al.

Illustrations

Figures

Figure ES-1. Decision Flow Diagram: Classifying Rib Fractures as Significant Based on Rib Fracture Type	iv
Figure 2-1. The Thoracic Cage	2-4
Figure 2-2. Pleural Spaces and the Lungs	2-5
Figure 2-3. Fractures of the Thoracic Cage	2-7
Figure 2-4. Flail Chest and Paradoxical Respiration	2-8
Figure 3-1. Decision Flow Diagram: Three or More Simultaneously Fractured Ribs Is a Significant Injury	3-4
Figure 3-2. Decision Flow Diagram: Two or More Fractures within One Rib Is a Significant Injury	3-7
Figure 3-3. Decision Flow Diagram: Bilateral Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury	3-8
Figure 3-4. Decision Flow Diagram: Open Rib Fracture Is a Significant Injury	3-11
Figure 3-5. Decision Flow Diagram: One or Two Simultaneously Fractured Ribs (Each Rib Only Fractured Once, Not a Bilateral Fracture,	2 1 2
and Not an Open Fracture) Is Not Significant	
Figure 4-1. Finite Element (FE) Modeling of the Rib Cage	
Figure 4-2. Regression Curves for Rib Fracture in ATBM Torso Model	4-4
Figure 5-1. Decision Flow Diagram: Classifying Rib Fractures as Significant Based on Rib Fracture Type	5-3
Figure B-1. ROM in the Thoracolumbar Spine	B-3
Figure B-2. ROM Measurements for Thoracolumbar (Thoracic + Lumbar) Spine	B-3
Figure C-1. The Spirogram and the Lung Volumes of Interest to Clinicians	C-2
Figure D-1. Blunt Impact as a Function of Velocity vs. Mass of the Projectile	D-1

Tables

Table 2-1. Injuries to the Chest and Abdomen from Blunt-Impact NLWs	. 2-2
Table 2-2. Types and Numbers of Thoracic Injuries from 19 Sources of Case Studies Describing Thoracic Injury Due to Rubber and Plastic Bullets	. 2-3
Table 4-1. Injury Correlations for the Thorax and Abdomen as Implemented in ATBM	. 4-5

Table A-1. Example of Typical Descriptive 0–10 Pain Scale	A-3
Table B-1. VASRD for Thoracolumbar Spine	B - 4
Table B-2. FEV-1 Predicted Values in Liters for Male Caucasian	B-5
Table B-3. VASRD for Lung Function	B-6
Table B-4. Average ROM During Each ADL Expressedas a Percentage of the Maximum Available ROM	B-7
Table B-5. Classifying Asthma Severity in Adults and Youths More Than 12 Years of Age	B-8
Table B-6. Classification of Airflow Limitation Severity in COPD	B-8
Table B-7. Determining the Significance of Rib Fracture Based on Lung Function Limitation	B-9
Table D-1. JNLWD's Portfolio of Current and Developing Non-Lethal Kinetic Weapon Projectiles	D-2

- Aetna. 2016. "Internal Fixation of Rib Fracture." Clinical Policy Bulletin, Number: 0822. Last updated November 18, 2016. <u>http://www.aetna.com/cpb/medical/data/800_899/0822.html</u>.
- Al-Hassani, Ammar, Husham Abdulrahman, Ibrahim Afifi, Ammar Almadani, Ahmed Al-Den, AbdulazizAl-Kuwari, John Recicar, Syed Nabir, and Kimball I. Maull. 2010. "Rib Fracture Patterns Predict Thoracic Chest Wall and Abdominal Solis Organ Injury." *The American Surgeon* 76 (8) (August): 888–891. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20726423</u>.
- American Chronic Pain Association. 2016. "Glossary: Chronic Pain." Last updated December 13, 2016. Accessed December 4, 2016. <u>https://theacpa.org/glossary</u>.
- Bailey, R. C. 2000. "Complications of Tube Thoracostomy in Trauma." Journal of Acciddent & Emergency Medicine 17 (2) (March): 111–114. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1725338/.
- Batalis, Nicholas I. 2016. "Forensic Autopsy of Blunt Force Trauma." Edited by J Scott Denton. *Medscape*, March 2. Accessed September 14, 2016. <u>http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1680107-overview</u>.
- Battle, Ceri E., Hayley Hutchings, and Phillip A. Evans. 2012. "Risk Factors That Predict Mortality in Patients with Blunt Chest Wall Trauma: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Injury* 43 (1) (January): 8–17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2011.01.004</u>.
- Baumann, Michael H., and Marc Noppen. 2004. "Pneumothorax." *Respirology* 9 (2) (June): 157–164. doi:<u>10.1111/j.1440-1843.2004.00577.x</u>.
- Bible, Jesse E., Debdut Biswas, Christopher P. Miller, Peter G. Whang, and Jonathan N Grauer. 2010. "Normal Functional Range of Motion of the Lumbar Spine During 15 Activities of Daily Living." *Journal of Spinal Disorders & Techniques* 23 (2) (April): 106–112. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20065869</u>.
- Bir, Cynthia A. 2000. "The Evaluation of Blunt Ballistic Impacts of the Thorax." PhD diss., Wayne State University. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/</u>254723286 The evaluation of blunt ballistic impacts of the thorax.
- Boersma, Wim G., Jos A. Stigt, and Hans J. M. Smit. 2010. "Treatment of Haemothorax." *Respiratory Medicine* 104 (11) (November): 1583–1587. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2010.08.006.
- Broderick, Stephen R. 2013. "Hemothorax: Etiology, Diagnosis, and Management." *Thoracic Surgery Clinics* 23 (1) (February): 89–96. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.thorsurg.2012.10.003</u>.

- Burgei, Wesley, Shannon Foley, Jennifer Preston, Ashley Raba, James Simonds, Thomas Dayton, Michael Jirjis, et al. 2014. *Implementation Guidance Document: General Risk of Significant Injury Equation*. JNLW14-067. Quantico, VA: Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate.
- Cazares, Shelley, Allison King, Leon Hirsch, Jenny R. Holzer, and Michael Finnin. 2016. "Predicting the Significance of Injuries Potentially Caused by Non-Lethal Weapons." Paper presented at the NDIA Human Systems Conference, Springfield VA, February 9–10.
- CBO. 2014. "Veterans' Disability Compensation: Trends and Policy Options." Washington, DC: Congressional Budget Office, August. <u>https://www.cbo.gov/</u> sites/default/files/113th-congress-2013-2014/reports/45615-VADisability_2.pdf.
- Centers for Disease Control. n.d. "FEV₁ Predicted Values: Male Caucacsian." Accessed October 21, 2016. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/spirometry/pdfs/</u> <u>CMale20_40_All.pdf</u>.
- Chapman, Brandon, Benoit Herbert, Maria Rodil, Jennifer Salotto, Robert. T. Stovall, Walter Biffl, Jeffrey Johnson, Clay Cothren Burlew, Carlton Barnett, Charles Fox, et. al. 2016. "RibScore: A Novel Radiographic Score Based on Fracture Pattern That Predicts Pneumonia, Respiratory Failure, and Tracheostomy." *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery* 80 (1) (January): 95–101. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26683395.
- Cobian, Daniel G., Nicole S. Daehn, Paul A. Anderson, and Bryan C. Heiderscheit. 2013. "Active Cervical and Lumbar Range of Motion During Performand of Activities of Daily Living in Healthy Young Adults." *Spine* 38 (20) (September 15): 1754–1763. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23823575</u>.
- Cohn, Stephen M., and Joseph J. DuBose. 2010. "Pulmonary Contusion: An Update on Recent Advances in Clinical Management." *World Journal of Surgery* 34 (8) (August): 1959–1970. doi:10.1007/s00268-010-0599-9.
- Culver, Bruce H. 2012. "Pulmonary Function Testing." In *Clinical Respiratory Medicine*, 4th ed., edited by Stephen G. Spiro, Gerard A. Silvestri, and Alvar Agustí, 133–142. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders.
- Davies, Helen E., and Y. C. Gary Lee. 2008. "Pleural Effusion, Empyema, and Pneumothorax." In *Clinical Respiratory Medicine*, 3rd ed., edited by Richard K. Albert, Stephen G. Spiro, and James R. Jett, 853–867. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby Elsevier.
- Dehghan, Niloofar, Charles de Mestral, Michael D. McKee, Emil H. Schemitsch, and Avery Nathens. 2013. "Flail Chest Injuries: A Review of Outcomes and Treatment Practices from the National Trauma Data Bank." *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery* 76 (2) (February): 462–468. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24458051.
- Dittman, M., U. Steenblock, M. Kränzlin, and G. Wilff. 1982. "Epidural Analgesia or Mechanical Ventilation for Multiple Rib Fractures?" *Intensive Care Medicine* 8 (2) (March): 89–92. doi:10.1007/BF01694873.

- DoD. 2010. "Medical Standards for Appointment, Enlistment, or Induction in the Military Services." DoD Instruction (DoDI) 6130.03. Washington, DC: USD(P&R), April 28 (Incorporating Change 1, September 13, 2011). http://dtic.mil/whs/directives/corres/pdf/613003p.pdf.
- DoD. 2012. "Non-Lethal Weapons (NLW) Human Effects Characterization." Department of Defense Instruction (DoDI) 3200.19. Washington, DC: USD(AT&L), May 17. http://www.dtic.mil/whs/directives/corres/pdf/320019p.pdf.
- DoD. 2013. "DoD Executive Agent for Non-Lethal Weapons (NLW), and NLW Policy." Department of Defense Directive (DoDD) 3000.3E. Washington, DC: USD(AT&L), April 25.
- DoD. 2015. Manual for the Operation of the Joint Capabilities Integration and Development System (JCIDS). Washington DC: Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, February 12. <u>https://dap.dau.mil/policy/Documents/2015/</u> JCIDS Manual with errata through 20151218.pdf.
- DoD. n.d. "Non-Lethal Weapons Program." Accessed September 14, 2016. http://jnlwp.defense.gov/.
- DVA. 1992. "§4.25 Combined Ratings Table." 38 CFR Book C, Schedule for Rating Disabilities. Washington, DC: Department of Veterans Affairs. http://www.benefits.va.gov/warms/docs/regs/38CFR/BOOKC/PART4/S4_25.doc.
- DVA. 2006. "§4.97 Schedule of Ratings—Respiratory System." 38 CFR Book C, Schedule for Rating Disabilities. Washington, DC: Department of Veterans Affairs. http://www.benefits.va.gov/warms/docs/regs/38CFR/BOOKC/PART4/S4 97.doc.
- DVA. 2015. "§4.71a Musculoskeletal System." 38 CFR Book C, Schedule for Rating Disabilities. Washington, DC: Department of Veterans Affairs. <u>http://www.benefits.va.gov/warms/bookc.asp</u>.
- Dvorsky, George. 2013. "Scientists Succeed in Objectively Measuring Pain." *io9*, April 11. <u>http://io9.gizmodo.com/scientists-succeed-in-objectively-measuring-pain-472456061</u>.
- Easter. A. 2001. "Management of Patients with Multiple Rib Fractures." *American Journal of Critical Care* 10 (5) (September): 320–327. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11548565.
- El-Chami, Mikhael F., William Nicholson, and Tarek Helmy. 2008. "Blunt Cardiac Trauma." *The Journal of Emergency Medicine* 35 (2) (August): 127–133. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2007.03.018.
- Fabricant, Loic, Bruce Ham, Richard Mullins, and John Mayberry. 2013. "Prolonged Pain and Disability Are Common after Rib Fractures." *The American Journal of Surgery* 205 (5) (May): 511–516. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2012.12.007</u>.
- Fathi, Joelle Thirsk. 2012. "Rib Fractures: Essentials of Management and Treatment Options." Swedish (blog). Swedish Medical Center, August 22. <u>http://www.swedish.org/blog/2012/08/rib-fractures-essentials-of-management-and-treatment-options</u>.

- Flagel, Benjamin T., Fred A. Luchette, Lawrence Reed, Thomas J. Esposito, Kimberly A. Davis, John M. Santaniello, and Richard L. Gamelli. 2005. "Half-a-Dozen Ribs: The Breakpoint for Mortality." *Surgery* 138 (4) (October): 717–725. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2005.07.022</u>.
- Fontaine, Eustace J., and Richard D. Page. 2011. "Pneumothorax and Insertion of a Chest Drain." Surgery 29 (5) (May): 244–246. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mpsur.2011.02.007.</u>
- Fujimori, Takahito, Motoki Iwasaki, Yukitaka Nagamoto, Yohei Matsuo, Takahiro Ishii, Tsuyoshi Sugiura, Masafumi Kashii, Tsuyoshi Murase, Kasuomi Sugamoto, and Hideki Yoshikawa. 2014. "Kinematics of the Thoracic Spine in Trunk Lateral Bending: *In Vivo* Three-Dimensional Analysis." *The Spine Journal* 14 (9) (September): 1991–1999. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2013.11.054.
- Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease[™]. 2017. *Pocket Guide to COPD Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention: A Guide for Health Care Professionals.* Scotts Valley, CA: CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.
- Goldsworthy, Sandra, and Leslie Graham. 2014. "Mechanical Ventilation Overview." In *Compact Clinical Guide to Mechanical Ventilation: Foundations of Practice for Clinical Care Nurses*, 23–36. New York: Springer Publishing Company. http://www.anesth.ru/monografii/MV%20Nurse.pdf.
- Gordy, Stephanie, Loic Fabricant, Bruce Ham, Richard Mullins, and John Mayberry. 2014. "The Contribution of Rib Fractures to Chronic Pain and Disability." *The American Journal of Surgery* 207 (5) (May): 659–663. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2013.12.012</u>.
- Gupta, A., M. Jamshidi, and J. R. Rubin. 1997. "Traumatic First Rib Fracture: Is Angiography Necessary? A Review of 730 Cases." *Cardiovascular Surgery* 5 (1) (February): 48–53. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0967-2109(97)00060-4</u>.

Hansen, John T. 2014. Netter's Clinical Anatomy. 3rd ed. Philadelphia. PA: Elsevier.

- Harrison, Mark. 2014. "Traumatic Pneumothorax: A Review of Current Practices." *British Journal of Hospital Medicine* 75 (1) (March): 132–135. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12968/hmed.2014.75.3.132</u>.
- Hawker, Gillian A., Samra Mian, Tetyana Kendzerska, and Melissa French. 2011.
 "Measures of Adult Pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP)." Supplement. *Arthritis Care & Research* 63 (S11) (November): S240–S252. doi:10.1002/acr.20543.
- Hirsch, Leon R., Jenny Holzer, Michael Finnin, and Shelley Cazares. 2015. *Significance of Retinal Lesions Potentially Caused by Dazzling Lasers*. IDA Document D-5691. Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, December.

- Hubbs, Ken, and David Klinger. 2004. *Impact Munitions: Data Base of Use and Effects*. Document No. 204433. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice. <u>https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/204433.pdf</u>.
- ICD10Data.com. 2017. "2017 ICD-10-CM Diagnosis Codes." http://www.icd10data.com/ICD10CM/Codes/S00-T88/S20-S29/S22-/S22.
- Institute of Medicine (IOM). 2011. "Pain as a Public Health Challenge." Chap. 2 in *Relieving Pain in America: A Blueprint for Transforming Prevention, Care, Education, and Research*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK92516/.
- Jensen, Courtney D., Jamie T. Stark, Lewis L. Jacobson, Jan M. Powers, Michael F. Joseph, Jeffrey M. Kinsella-Shaw, and Craig R. Denegar. 2016. "Improved Outcomes Associated with the Liberal Use of Thoracic Epidural Analgesia in Patients with Rib Fractures." *Pain Medicine*. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnw199</u>.
- Joseph, Bellal, Tahereh O. Jokar, Mazhar Khalil, Ansab A. Haider, Narong Kulvatunyou, Bardiya Zangbar, Andrew Tang, Muhammad Zeeshan, Terence O'Keefe, Daniyal Abbas, et al. 2016. "Identifying a Broken Heart: Predictors of Mortality and Morbidity in Suspected Blunt Cardiac Injury." *The American Journal of Surgery* 211 (6) (June): 982–988. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.10.027</u>.
- Kaneda, Hiroyuki, Takahito Nakano, Yohei Taniguchi, Tomohito Saito, Toshifumi Konobu, and Yukihito Saito. 2013. "Three-Step Management of Pneumothorax: Time for a Re-Think on Initial Management." *Interactive CardioVascular and Thoracic Surgery* 16 (2) (February): 186–192. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC3548528/</u>.
- Karadayi, Sule, Aydin Nadir, Ekber Sahin, Burcin Celik, Sulhattin Arslan, and Melih Kaptanoglu. 2011. "An Analysis of 214 Cases of Rib Fractures." *Clinics* 66 (3) (March): 449–451. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3072006/</u>.
- Karmy-Jones, Riyad, and Gregory J. Jurkovich. 2004. "Blunt Chest Trauma." *Current Problems in Surgery* 41 (3) (March): 223–380. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/</u> j.cpsurg.2003.12.004.
- Kenny, John M., and Viktor Bovbjerg. 2013. *Estinating Risk of Significant Injury (RSI)* from Field Non-Lethal Weapons Use Data. State College, PA: Penn State Institute for Non-Lethal Defense Technologies.
- Kerr-Valentic, Mahlon A., Melanie Arthur, Richard J. Mullins, Tuesday E. Pearson, and John C. Mayberry. 2003. "Rib Fracture Pain and Disability: Can We Do Better?" *The Journal of Truama–Injury, Infection, and Critical Care* 54 (7) (June): 1058–1064. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12813323</u>.
- Kerr-Valentic, Mahlon A., Melanie Arthur, Richard J. Mullins, Tuesday E. Pearson, and John C. Mayberry. 2003. "Rib Fracture Pain and Disability: Can We Do Better?" *The Journal of Truama–Injury, Infection, and Critical Care* 54 (7) (June): 1058–1064. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12813323</u>.

- Kessel, Boris, Jasmin Dagan, Forat Swaid, Itamar Ashkenzai, Oded Olsha, Kobi Peleg, Adi Givon, Israel Trauma Group, and Ricardo Alfici. 2014. "Rib Fractures: Comparison of Associated Injuries between Pediatric and Adult Population." *The American Journal of Surgery* 208 (5) (November): 831–834. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2013.10.033.
- Khandhar, Sandeep J., Scott B. Johnson, and John H. Calhoon. 2007. "Overview of Thoracic Trauma in the United States." *Thoracic Surgery Clinics* 17 (1) (February): 1–9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.thorsurg.2007.02.004</u>.
- Khorati, Al-achraf, Ramyah Rajakulasingam, and Rakhee Shah. 2013. "Sternal Fractures and Their Management." *Journal of Emergencies, Trauma, and Shock* 6 (2) (April–June): 113–116. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3665058/</u>.
- King, Allison, and Shelley Cazares. 2015. *Significance of Permanent Threshold Shift Potentially Caused by Sound-Based Non-Lethal Weapons*. IDA Document D-5692. Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, December.
- Knottenbelt, J. D., and J. W. van der Spuy. 1990. "Traumatic Pneumothorax: A Scheme for Rapid Patient Turnover." *Injury* 21 (2) (March): 77–80. doi:10.1016/0020-1383(90)90058-3.
- Kobayashi, Masahiko, and Paul F Mellen. 2009. "Rubber Bullet Injury: Case Report with Autopsy Observation and Literature Review." *The American Journal of Forensic Medicine and Pathology* 30 (3) (September): 262–267. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19696582.
- Kouritas, Vasileios K., Charalambos Zisis, Konstantinos Vahlas, Antonios G. Roussakis, and Ion Bellenis. 2013. "Isolated Sternal Fractures Treated on an Outpatient Basis." *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 31 (1) (January): 227–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2012.05.027.
- Kramer, Corrine M., Yevgeny Macheret, and Jeremy A. Teichman. 2016. *Blunt Impact Injury Modeling*. IDA Document D-5820. Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, May.
- Lafferty, Paul M., Jack Anavian, Ryan E. Will, and Peter A. Cole. 2011. "Operative Treatment of Chest Wall Injuries: Indications, Technique, and Outcomes." *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* 93 (1) (January): 97–110. <u>http://medicine.tums.ac.ir:803/Users/ramin_espandar/Journal%20Club%209,89/Ope</u> rative%20Treatment%20of%20Chest%20Wall%20Injuries.PDF.
- Lake, Cassidy, Kristen Templin, Rachel Lowe, Naomi O'Reilly, and Scott Burns. n.d. "Thoracic Examination." *Physiopedia*. Accessed December 20, 2016. <u>http://www.physio-pedia.com/Thoracic Examination</u>.
- Lee, Robert B., Sue M. Bass, John A. Morris, and Ellen J. Mackenzie. 1990. "Three or More Rib Fractures as an Indicator for Transfer to a Level I Trauma Center: A Population-Based Study." *Journal of Trauma–Injury, Infection, and Critical Care* 30 (6) (June): 689–694. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2352298.
- Leigh-Smith, S., and T. Harris. 2005. "Tension Pneumothorax—Time for a Re-Think." *Emergency Medicine Journal* 22 (1) (January): 8–16. doi:10.1136/emj.2003.010421.

- Livingston, David H., Benjamin Shogan, John Preeti, and Robert F. Lavery. 2008. "CT Diagnosis of Rib Fractures and the Prediction of Acute Respiratory Failure." *Journal of Trauma–Injury Infection & Critical Care* 64 (4) (April): 905–911 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18404055.
- Lube, Matthew W. 2013. "Surgical Fixation of Rib Fractures." Edited by Michael L. Cheatham. Orlando, FL: Department of Surgical Education, Orlando Regional Medical Center, February 6. <u>http://www.surgicalcriticalcare.net/Guidelines/</u> Surgical%20Fixation%20of%20Rib%20Fractures%202013.pdf.
- Manchester-Bedford Myoskeletal. 2016. "Range of Motion." Accessed October 21, 2016. http://www.mbmyoskeletal.com/learning/range-of-motion/.
- Mayberry, John C., L. Bruce Ham, Paul H. Schipper, Thomas J. Ellis, and Richard J. Mullins. 2009. "Surveyed Opinion of American Trauma, Orthopedic, and Thoracic Surgeons on Rib and Sternal Fracture Repair." *The Journal of Trauma–Injury, Infection, and Critical Care* 66 (3) (March): 875–879. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19276767</u>.
- Mayo Clinic. 2016. "Broken Ribs." Accessed November 4, 2016. <u>http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/broken-ribs/symptoms-causes/dxc-20169643</u>.
- Mayo Clinic. 2017. "Bruise: First Aid." Accessed March 1, 2017. http://www.mayoclinic.org/first-aid/first-aid-bruise/basics/art-20056663.
- Melendez, Sarah L. 2016. "Rib Fracture." Edited by Trevor John Mills. *Medscape*, May 11. Accessed September 9, 2016. <u>http://emedicine.medscape.com/</u> <u>article/825981-overview</u>.
- Middleton, Carolyn, Mary Edwards, Naomi Lang, and Jenny Elkins. 2003. "Management and Treatment of Patients with Fractured Ribs." *Nursing Times* 99 (5) (4 February): 30–32. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12640789</u> and <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/10852472_Management_and_treatment_of_patients_with_fractured_ribs</u>.
- Military Disability Made Easy. 2013a. "Analogous and Equivalent Codes." Accessed October 21, 2016. <u>http://www.militarydisabilitymadeeasy.com/analogous.html</u>.
- Military Disability Made Easy. 2013b. "The Respiratory System." Accessed October 21, 2016.

http://www.militarydisabilitymadeeasy.com/therespiratorysystem.html#restrict.

- Military Disability Made Easy. 2013c. "The Spine." Accessed October 21, 2016. http://www.militarydisabilitymadeeasy.com/thespine.html#prepare.
- Millar, R., W. H. Rutherford, S. Johnston, and J. V. Malhotra. 1975. "Injuries Caused by Rubber Bullets: A Report on 90 Patients." *The British Journal of Surgery* 62 (6) (June): 480–486. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1148650</u>.

- Misthos, P., S. Kakaris, E. Sepsas, K. Athanassiadi, and I. Skottis. 2004. "A Prospective Analysis of Occult Pneumothorax, Delayed Pneumothorax and Delayed Hemothorax after Minor Blunt Thoracic Trauma." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 25 (5) (May): 859–864. doi:10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.01.044.
- Mowery, Nathan T., Oliver L. Gunter, Bryan R. Collier, José J. Diaz. Jr., Elliott Haut, Amy Hildreth, Michelle Holevar, John Mayberry, and Erik Streib. 2011. "Practice Management Guidelines for Management of Hemothorax and Occult Pneumothorax." *The Journal of Trauma–Injury, Infection, and Critical Care* 70 (2) (February): 510–518. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21307755</u>.
- National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians (NAMET). 2016. *Prehospital Trauma Life Support*. Military 8th ed. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. 2007. *Expert Panel Report 3: Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma*. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health. <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-pro/guidelines/current/asthma-guidelines/full-report</u>.
- The National Institute for Occipational Safety and Health. 2015. "Spirometry: Spirometry Training Program—NHANES III Reference Values." Last updated October 23, 2015. Accessed November 13, 2016. http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/spirometry/nhanes.html.
- Navid, Foroan, and Thomas G. Gleason. 2008. "Great Vessel and Cardiac Trauma: Diagnostic and Management Strategies." Seminars in Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery 20 (1) (Spring): 31–38. http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.semtcvs.2007.11.007.
- Nirula, Raminder, and John C. Mayberry. 2010. "Rib Fracture Fixation: Controversies and Technical Challenges" *The American Surgeon* 76 (8) (August): 793–802. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20726406.
- Nirula, Raminder, José J. Diaz, Jr, Donald D. Trunkey, and John C. Mayberry. 2009.
 "Rib Fracture Repair: Indications, Technical Issues, and Future Directions" World Journal of Surgery 33 (1) (January): 14–22. doi:<u>10.1007/s00268-008-9770-y</u>.
- NSWCDD. 2015. "Categorization of Thermal Human Skin Burn Injuries from Non-Lethal Weapons Implementation Guidance Document." Dahlgren, VA: Naval Surface Warfare Center Dahlgren Division.
- Pavier, Julien, André Langlet, Nicolas Eches, Nicolas Prat, Patrice Bailly, and Jean-François Jacquet. 2015. "Experimental Study of the Coupling Parameters Influencing the Terminal Effects of Thoracic Blunt Ballistic Impacts." *Forensic Science International* 252 (July 24): 39–51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/</u> j.forsciint.2015.04.004.
- Peroni, D. G., and A. L. Boner. 2000. "Atelectasis: Mechanisms, Diagnosis, and Management." *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 1 (3) (September): 274–278. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/prrv.2000.0059</u>.
- Pharaon, K. Shad, Silvana Marasco, and John Mayberry. 2015. "Rib Fractures, Flail Chest, and Pulmonary Contusion." *Current Trauma Reports* 1 (4) (December): 237–242. doi:10.1007/s40719-015-0026-7.

- Plourde, Miville, Marcel Émond, André Lavoie, Chantal Guimont, Natalie Le Sage, Jean-Marc Chauny, Éric Bergeron, Laurent Vanier, Lynne Moore, Nadine Allain-Boulé, et al. 2014. "Cohort Study on the Prevelence and Risk Factors for Delayed Pulmonary Complications in Adults Following Minor Blunt Thoracic Trauma." *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine* 16 (2): 136–143. <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/services/aop-cambridge-core/content/ view/S1481803500002591</u>.
- Pressley, Crystal M., William R. Fry, Allan S. Philp, Stepheny D. Berry, and R. Stephen Smith. 2012. "Predicting Outcome of Patients with Chest Wall Injury." *The American Journal of Surgery* 204 (6) (December): 910–914. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2012.05.015.
- Rabbat, Antoine, and Gérard J. Huchon. 2008a. "Bacterial Pneumonia." In *Clinical Respiratory Medicine*, 3rd ed., edited by Richard K. Albert, Stephen G. Spiro, and James R. Jett, 333–350. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby Elsevier.
- Rabbat, Antoine, and Gérard J. Huchon. 2008b. "Nonbacterial Pneumonia." In *Clinical Respiratory Medicine*, 3rd ed., edited by Richard K. Albert, Stephen G. Spiro, and James R. Jett, 351–364. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby Elsevier.
- Rand Corporation. 2016. "Health: 36-Item Short Form Survey Instrument (SF-36)."Accessed October 25, 2016. <u>https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/</u> www/external/health/surveys tools/mos/mos core 36item survey.pdf.
- Rezende-Neto, Joao, Fabriccio D. F. Silva, Leonardo B. O. Porto, Luis C. Teixeira, Homer Tien, and Sandro B. Rizoli. 2009. "Penetrating Injury to the Chest by an Attenuated Energy Projectile: A Case Report and Literature Review of Thoracic Injuries Caused by 'Less-Lethal' Munitions." World Journal of Emergency Surgery 4:26. <u>https://wjes.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1749-7922-4-26</u>.
- Rich, Alice. 2008. "Comparitive Pain Scale (0–10 Pain Scale)." Palo Alto, CA: Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford, Heart Center/Cardiovascular Intensive Care Unit (CVICU). <u>https://lane.stanford.edu/portals/cvicu/HCP_Neuro_Tab_4/0-10_Pain_Scale.pdf</u>.
- Richardson, J. David, Richard B. McElvein, and J. Kent Trinkle. 1975. "First Rib Fracture: A Hallmark of Severe Trauma." *Annals of Surgery* 181 (3) (March): 251–254. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1343844/.
- Rocke, Laurence. 1983. "Injuries Caused by Plastic Bullets Compared with Those Caused by Rubber Bullets." *The Lancet* 321 (8830) (April): 919–920. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(83)91340-5.
- Rostas, Jack W., Timothy B. Lively, Sidney B. Brevard, Jon D. Simmons, Mohammad A. Frotan, and Richard P. Gonzalez. 2016. "Rib Fractures and Their Association with Solid Organ Injury: Higher Rib Fractures Have Greater Significance for Solid Organ Injury Screening." *The American Journal of Surgery*. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0002961016304688.

- Sahota, Hardeep, Joshua Hinton, Emma Worley, Ashleigh Milner, Ellen Kay, and Sarah Badger. 2016. "A Critical Appraisal on Whether a Traumatic Pneumothorax Should Be Managed Conservatively." Supplement. *Clinical Medicine* 16 (S3): s35. http://www.clinmed.rcpjournal.org/content/16/Suppl 3/s35.full.
- Sakellaridis T., A. Stamatelopoulos, E. Andrianopoulos, and P. Kormas. 2004. "Isolated First Rib Fractures in Athletes." *Brritish Journal of Sports Medicine* 38 (3) (June): e5. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2003.009225.
- Schlinder, Margrid B. 2005. "Treatment of Atelectasis: Where Is the Evidence?" *Critical Care* 9 (4) (August): 341–342. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16137380</u>.
- Schroeppel, Thomas J., and Martin A. Croce 2007. "Diagnosis and Management of Blunt Abdominal Solid Organ Injury." *Current Opinion in Critical Care* 13 (4) (August): 399–404. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17599009</u>.
- Sclafani, Michael, Nirav H. Amin, Elizabeth Delehanty, Richard Figler, and James Williams. 2014. "Rehabilitation Following an Acute Traumatic First Rib Fracture in a Collegiate Football Player: A Case Report and Literature Review." *The International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy* 9 (7) (December): 1021–1029. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4275190/.
- Sharma, O. P., Michael F. Oswanski, Shashank Jolly, Sherry K. Lauer, Rhonda Dressel, and Heather A. Stombaugh. 2008. "Perils of Rib Fractures." *American Surgeon* 74 (4) (April): 310–314. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18453294</u>.
- Shauib, Waqas, Arvind Vijayasarathi, Muhammad Hazma Tiwana, Jamlik-Omari Johnson, Kiran Kumar Maddu, and Faisal Khosa. 2014. "The Diagnostic Utility of Rib Series in Assessing Rib Fractures." *Emergency Radiology* 21 (2) (April): 159–164. doi:10.1007/s10140-013-1177-x.
- Shelat, V.G., S. Eileen, L. John, L.T. Teo, A. Vijayan, and M.T. Chiu. 2012. "Chronic Pain and Its Impact on Quality of Life Following a Traumatic Rib Injury." *European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery* 38 (4) (August): 451–455. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26816127</u>.
- Shen, W., E. Niu, C. Webber, J. Huang, and L. Bykanova. 2012. Advanced Total Body Model (ATBM) Analyst's Guide for Model Verification and Validation. San Diego, CA: L-3 Applied Technologies/Jaycor.
- Shen, Weixin, Yuquing Niu, Robert F. Mattrey, Adam Fournier, Jackie Corbeil, Yuko Kono, and James H. Stuhmiller. 2008. "Development and Validation of Subject-Specific Finite Element Models for Blunt Trauma Study." *Journal of Biomechanical Engineering* 130 (2) (April 11): 021022-1–021022-13. <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/</u> viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.574.4792&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- Shields, Jean-François, Marcel Émond, Chantal Guimont, and Dany Piegon. 2010. "Acute Minor Thoracic Injuries: Evaluation of Practice and Follow-Up in the Emergency Department." *Canadian Family Physician* 56 (3) (March): e117–e124. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2837707/.

- Shorr, Robert M., Michael Crittenden, Matthew Indeck, Susan L. Hartunian, and Auerilo Rodriguez. 1987. Blunt Thoracic Truama: Analysis of 515 Patients." Annals of Surgery 206 (2) (August): 200–205. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1493106/.
- Sirmali, Mehmet, Hasan Türüt, Salih Topcu, Erkmen Gülhan, Ülkü Yazici, Sadi Kaya, and IfanTaştepe. 2003. "A Comprehensive Analysis of Traumatic Rib Fractures: Morbidity, Mortality, and Management." *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 24 (1) (July): 133–138. <u>http://ejcts.oxfordjournals.org/content/</u> 24/1/133.full.pdf+html.
- Stedman, Thomas Lathrop. 2012. Stedman's Medical Dictionary for the Health Professions and Nursing. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Swaid, Forat, Kobi Peleg, Ricardo Alfici, Oded Olsha, Igor Jeroukhimov, Adi Givon, Israel Trauma Group, and Boris Kessel. 2015. "The Severity of Liver Injury Following Blunt Trauma Does Not Correlate with the Number of Fractured Ribs: An Analysis of the National Trauma Registry Database." *Surgery Today* 45 (7) (July): 846–850. doi:10.1007/s00595-014-0975-4.
- Trauma.org. n.d. "Injury Severity Scoring." Accessed October 21, 2016. http://www.trauma.org/archive/scores/iss.html.
- U.S. Army Medical Department Center and School. n.d. *Treating Fractures in the Field*. Subcourse MD0533, Edition 100. Fort Sam Houston, TX: U.S. Army Medical Department Center and School. <u>https://archive.org/stream/</u> <u>US Army Medical Course Treating Fractures in the Field MD0533/US Army Medical Course Treating Fractures in the Field MD0533_djvu.txt</u>.
- United Health Supply. 2016. "Adjustable Wall Goniometer." Accessed October 21, 2016. http://www.unitedhealthsupply.com/Adjustable-Wall-Goniometer_p_66235.html.
- University of Southern California. n.d. "Cardiothoracic Surgery: Glossary of Terms." http://www.cts.usc.edu/zglossary-mediastinum.html.
- Vassilakopoulos, Theodoros. 2012. "Control of Ventilation and Respiratory Muscles." In *Clinical Respiratory Medicine*, 4th ed., edited by Stephen G. Spiro, Gerard A. Silvestri, and Alvar Agustí, 50–62. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders.
- Wagner, Peter D. 2012. "Gas Exchange." In *Clinical Respiratory Medicine*, 4th ed., edited by Stephen G. Spiro, Gerard A. Silvestri, and Alvar Agustí, 37–49. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders.
- Wagner, Tor D., Lauren Y. Atlas, Martin A. Lindquist, Mathieu Roy, Choong-Wan Woo, and Ethan Kross. 2013. "An fMRI-Based Neurologic Signature of Physical Pain." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 368 (15) (April): 1388–1397. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1204471.
- *Web*MD. 2015a. "How to Treat Minor Cuts and Scrapes." Last updated August 26, 2015. <u>http://www.webmd.com/allergies/cuts-scrapes#1</u>.

- *Web*MD. 2015b. "Understanding Bone Fractures the Basics." Last updated March 16, 2015. <u>http://www.webmd.com/a-to-z-guides/understanding-fractures-basic-information</u>.
- Whitson, Bryan A., Michael D. McGonigal, Christopher P. Anderson, and David J. Dries. 2013. "Increasing Numbers of Rib Fractures Do Not Worsen Outcome: An Analysis of the National Trauma Data Bank." *The American Surgeon* 79 (2) (February): 140–150. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23336653</u>.
- Wong-Baker FACES Foundation. 2016. "Welcome to the Wong-Baker FACES Foundation: The Official Home of the Wong-Baker FACES[®] Pain Rating Scale." Accessed November 13, 2016. <u>http://wongbakerfaces.org/</u>.
- Woodring, John H., Andrew M. Fried, Danny R. Hatfield, Richard K. Stevens, and Edward P. Todd. 1982. "Fractures of the First and Second Ribs: Predictive Value for Arterial and Bronchial Injury." *American Journal of Roentgenology* 138 (2) (February): 211–215. doi:10.2214/ajr.138.2.211.
- Yadav, Kabir, Mohannad Jalili, and Shahriar Zehtabchi. 2010. "Management of Traumatic Occult Pneumothorax." *Resuscitation* 81 (9) (September): 1063–1068. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2010.04.030</u>.
- Younger, Jarred, Rebecca McCue, and Sean Mackey. 2009. "Pain Outcomes: A Brief Review of Instruments and Techniques." *Current Pain and Headache Reports* 13 (1) (February): 39–43. doi:<u>10.1007/s11916-009-0009-x</u>.
- Zarogoulidis, Paul, Ioannis Kioumis, Georgia Pitsiou, Konstantinos Porpodis, Sofia Lampaki, Antonis Papaiwannou, Nikolaos Katsikogiannis, Bojan Zaric, Perin Branislav, Nevena Secen, et al. 2014. "Pneumothorax: From Definition to Diagnosis and Treatment." Supplement. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*. 6 (S4): S372–S376. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4203989/.

Abbreviations

ADL	activity of daily living
ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrome
ASOI	abdominal solid organ injury
ATBM	Advanced Total Body Model
ATLS	Advanced Trauma Life Support
BCI	blunt cardiac injury
CDC	Centers for Disease Control
CPOD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CT	computed tomography
CTS	Chest Trauma Score
CVICU	Cardiovascular Intensive Care Unit
DoD	Department of Defense
DoDD	Department of Defense Directive
DoDI	Department of Defense Instruction
DVA	U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs
FE	finite element
FEM	finite element model
FEV	forced expiratory volume
FEV-1	forced expiratory volume in 1 second
fMRI	functional magnetic resonance imaging
FVC	forced vital capacity
FY	Fiscal Year
g	gram
HCC	Health Care Capability
HCC0	HCC index of 0
HCC1	HCC index of 1
HCC2	HCC index of 2
HEMAP	Human Effects Modeling Analysis Program
HEMI	Human Electro-Muscular Incapacitation
IC	inspiratory capacity
ICD-10	International Classification of Disease Codes, 10 th
	revision
ICD-9	International Classification of Disease Codes, 9th
	revision
ICOAP	Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
IDA	Institute for Defense Analyses
IOM	Institute of Medicine
ΙΟ	injury occurred
J	joule
	5

JCIDS JNLWD	Joint Capabilities Integration and Development System Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate
JNLWP	Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Program
kPA	kilopascal
KPP	key performance parameter
KSA	key system attribute
LASD	Los Angeles Sheriff's Department
ml/kg	milliliters per kilogram
m/s	meters per second
MCCM	modular crowd control munition
MECE	mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive
mm	millimeter
mmHg	millimeter of mercury
MPa	megapascal
MPQ	McGill Pain Questionnaire
ms	millisecond
N-m	Newton-meters
NAMET	National Association of Emergency Medical
	Technicians
NDIA	National Defense Industrial Association
NIJ	National Institutes of Justice
NLW	non-lethal weapon
NRS	Numeric Rating Scale
NSAID	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
NSWCDD	Naval Surface Warfare Center Dahlgren Division
NTDB	National Trauma Data Bank
OIS	Organ Injury Scale
OTC	over-the-counter
RFS	Rib Fracture Score
RICW	rest, ice, compression, elevation
ROM	range of motion
RSI	Risk of Significant Injury
RV	residual volume
SF-36 BPS	Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale
SF-MPQ SI	Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire
SOI	significant injury
TLC	solid organ injury total lung capacity
	Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition,
USD(AT&L)	Technology, and Logistics
VT	tidal volume
VASRD	Veteran Affairs Schedule for Rating Disabilities
VASKD VAS	Visual Analog Scale
VAS VC	visual Analog Scale
vC	vitar capacity

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE				OMB No. 0704-0188				
				ding the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources,				
gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information.				Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this				
collection of information, including suggestion	ons for reducing the burden, to	o Department of Defense	, Washington Hea	dquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports				
subject to any penalty for failing to comply v	vith a collection of informatio	n if it does not display a	currently valid OM	are that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be B control number.				
PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YO								
1. REPORT DATE	2. REPORT TYP	Έ	3.	DATES COVERED (From-To)				
March 2017	Final			Nov 2016 – Mar 2017				
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE			56	a. CONTRACT NUMBER				
				HQ0034-14-D-0001				
Significance of Rib Fract	ures Potentially Ca	used by Blunt-Im	nact 5	D. GRANT NUMBER				
Non-Lethal Weapons	aree r eterniany ea	aboa by Blant III	ipuot Ji	STANT NOMBER				
Non Lethar Weapons			_					
			50	C. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER				
6. AUTHOR(S)			50	J. PROJECT NUMBER				
Cazares, Shelley M.				DU-2-4061				
Finnin, Michael S.			56	e. TASK NUMBER				
Holzer, Jenny R.								
King, Allison L.			Ef.	. WORK UNIT NUMBER				
Kramer, Corinne M.			51	. WORK UNIT NUMBER				
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZ	ATION NAME(S) A	ND ADDRESS(=S) 8.	PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT				
				NUMBER				
Institute for Defense Ana	llyses							
4850 Mark Center Drive				IDA Document D-8277				
Alexandria, VA 22311-18	382							
9. SPONSORING / MONITO	RING AGENCY NA	AME(S) AND	10). SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)				
ADDRESS(ES)								
				JNLWD				
Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate		11	I. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT					
3097 Range Road				NUMBER(S)				
Quantico, VA 22134-510	0			- (-)				
		-						
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILA	SILITY STATEMEN	11						
Approved for public relea	ase; distribution is u	Inlimited (8 Dece	ember 2017)					
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOT	ES							
44 40070407								
14. ABSTRACT			بر المعرفة المعرفة الم					
				eversibly incapacitate targeted personnel or materiel, property. This document considers effects from non-				
				/ed in crowd dispersal, these munitions serve as a				
				dual. These weapons may also induce rib fractures—				
				serves as the Department of Defense's (DoD) NLW				
				sition process, combat developers must compare the				
capabilities of NLW systems to	requirements to asser	ss the systems' teo	chnical matur	ity. One particularly important requirement stipulates				
				Significant Injury (RSI). A NLW's RSI is a compound				
				ificance of that injury. Computational models could				
				by a NLW will cause rib fracture. This project focuses				
on the second part of RSI, the si	gnificance of these inj	juries, which could	guide future	JNLVVD modeling efforts.				
15. SUBJECT TERMS								
blunt-impact NLW; Health Care Capability (HCC); non-lethal weapon (NLW); rib; rib fracture; Risk of Significant Injury (RSI);								
rubber bullet								
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATIO	N OF:	17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER					
		OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	Dr. Shannon Foley				
a. REPORT b. ABSTRACT	C. THIS PAGE	ADOTRACI	FAGES	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area code)				

Uncl.

Uncl.

Uncl.

SAR

94

7	<u>(</u>)3	5-4	43	32	2-(0	9	0	(

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18